


CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF 
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk 
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of 
the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and 
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more 
suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be 
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given 
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of 
this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability 
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this 
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Shentong Robot Education Group Company Limited (the 
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with 
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The 
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the 
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading; (2) 
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all 
opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on 
bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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The following is a summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last 
five financial years.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Year ended 31 March
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Revenue 91,507 34,684 38,484 38,865 34,495

Profit/(loss) before tax 11,507 (18,820) (8,269) (6,723) (13,524)

Income tax expense (7,661) (1,550) (1,602) (2,390) (746)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners 3,846 (20,370) (9,871) (9,113) (14,270)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (HK cent(s)) 0.24 (1.57) (0.76) (0.70) (1.19)
      

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 March
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Total assets 538,808 40,741 61,254 69,344 75,549

Total liabilities (447,382) (116,573) (115,479) (113,406) (110,888)
      

Net assets/(liabilities) 91,426 (75,832) (54,225) (44,062) (35,339)
      

Net assets/(liabilities) per share (HK cent(s)) 5.52 (5.86) (4.19) (3.40) (2.73)
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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the Board of the Directors (the “Board”), I am pleased to present the audited consolidated results of Shentong 
Robot Education Group Company Limited (“Shentong Robot Education” or the “Company”, together with its subsidiary 
companies, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the “Year”).

KEY DEVELOPMENTS
The Year has been one of great significance for the Group. I am pleased to announce that the Group completed the acquisition 
(the “Acquisition”) of the entire equity interest in Copious Link Ventures Limited (the “Target Company”, together with its 
subsidiaries, the “Target Group”) on 16 May 2016. The Target Company is the holding company of 黑龍江神通文化俱樂部有限
公司 (Heilongjiang Shentong Cultural Club Co., Ltd.#) (“Heilongjiang Shentong”) which is principally engaged in the provision of 
education and training courses relating to robotics standardised by China Robot Competition (the “CRC”) in Heilongjiang 
Province of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) as well as the organisation and hosting of CRC competition events in 
Heilongjiang Province of the PRC. With the completion of the Acquisition, the Group has become the only enterprise authorised 
to organise and host CRC competition events and provide related training courses in Heilongjiang Province. This quality 
education business which combines technology and education means that the Group has officially entered the China quality 
education market and successfully created a new source of revenues.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The Group has been endeavouring to improve its overall financial position through restructuring and streamlining of business 
operations, and this effort finally came to fruition during the Year. The Group recorded consolidated revenue of approximately 
HK$91,507,000 for the year ended 31 March 2017, representing an increase of approximately 163.8% as compared to 
approximately HK$34,684,000 for the year ended 31 March 2016. The increase was mainly attributable to the contribution of 
steady revenues recorded by the Group after the completion of the Acquisition.

For the Year, the Group successfully turned losses into gains by recording approximately HK$3,846,000 in profit attributable to 
owners of the Company as compared to the approximately HK$20,370,000 in loss attributable to owners of the Company for 
the year ended 31 March 2016. The Group’s gross profit increased by 134.7% year-on-year to approximately HK$55,540,000, 
with a gross profit margin of approximately 60.7%. For the period from the completion date of the Acquisition to the end of the 
reporting period (totalling approximately ten and a half months), the Target Group segment recorded approximately 
HK$60,050,000 in revenue and approximately HK$28,598,000 in profit before tax.

BUSINESS REVIEW
During the reporting period, the Group’s revenue were mainly attributable to the provision of robotics training courses and 
others in Heilongjiang Province of the PRC and the provision of promotion and management services of electronic smart card 
“Shentong Card” in the PRC.

With the completion of the Acquisition, the Group has obtained the exclusive right to host CRC competition events and provide 
related CRC education and training (collectively, the “CRC Business”) in Heilongjiang Province. The CRC Business in 
Heilongjiang Province achieved a leap-forward development in the past year and brought the province’s quality robot education 
to a new milestone with wide recognition from the general public as well as from the market. To better reflect the Group’s 
business activities and development directions, the Company officially changed its name to “Shentong Robot Education Group 
Company Limited” in August 2016 with a clearer corporate image.

#  English name is for identification purpose only
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Heilongjiang Province is one of the leading regions of China in the development of quality robot education. The Group is the 
sole organiser of CRC events in Heilongjiang Province with the approval of the General Administration of Sport of China. The 
CRC Business in Heilongjiang has become an important part of the Group’s development strategy. During the Year, the Group 
organised a diversified series of CRC events with the focus on land robots and aerial robots such as robotic polo competition, 
robot obstacle race, off-road robot competition, humanoid robotic dance competition and smart robot innovation competition, in 
order to tap the potential of the quality robot education market, which attracted kindergarten, primary school, secondary school 
and university level participants from across Heilongjiang Province. Prominent among them were the 2016 Heilongjiang “China 
Communication Cup” Robot Tournament Qualifying held in various prefecture-level cities in the province during the year, the 
“Harbin Bank Cup” Smart Robot Competition held in Heilongjiang Province in July 2016 and the “Back-to-school Season Land 
Robot Obstacle Challenge” held in February 2017. These novel competitions were very successful and received a lot of 
attention from all walks of life.

By organising CRC events in Heilongjiang Province, the Group effectively promotes the development of quality robot education 
and makes it take root in the province and develop more related talent. We believe that various robot competitions will promote 
the popularisation and development of robot education by providing excellent opportunities for students and schools to explore 
robotic technologies, particularly in the Group’s key markets of Harbin and Daqing where the influence of quality robot 
education is increasing.

Education and talent development are key to China’s overall development in the future. Promoting China quality education is 
beneficial for improving the general literacy of the entire population and driving all-round development of students in terms of 
morality, intellectuality and physical fitness. During the Year, the Group made active efforts to promote the school-based quality 
robot teaching business in China in coordination with the working committee of the National School Sports Robot League. In 
this regard, we organised experience courses including the “Little Pilot” Science and Technology Experience Activity and the 
2016 Science Popularisation Day in Heilongjiang Province, which not only expanded the influence of the Group’s quality 
education business in the local areas but also contributed to the development of China quality education at large. We are highly 
confident in the Group’s current positioning with its focus on quality education which combines science, technology and 
education.

PROSPECTS
The CRC Business in Heilongjiang, which has made revenue contributions in the short span of just a little more than ten 
months, has made a good start in our efforts, to optimise our operations. The CRC Business in Heilongjiang will also become a 
driver of the Group’s business growth in the future. We will further strengthen our marketing efforts to expand the CRC 
business in wider areas of Heilongjiang on top of our existing achievements. In addition to consolidating our operations in 
Harbin and Daqing, we will gradually expand our CRC business network to the other 11 prefecture-level cities of Heilongjiang 
Province.

While continuously developing our CRC Business network in Heilongjiang Province, we will keep developing and organising 
various robot competitions to increase the number of participants in CRC events and training courses. The China Robot Sports 
Working Committee has planned a number of national robot competitions for 2017. Among them, the Second National Robot 
Competition will take place in Shandong Province in August 2017. With new competition items, this competition will be more 
diversified compared to the first session in 2015. At the same time, qualifying and final competitions at varying scales will be 
held in different regions. As schools and students strive for eligibility of participation, the number of participants in the 
competition events and relevant training courses will steadily increase. We are also pleased to announce that Heilongjiang 
Province will host the first football match using robots as the tools for competition in China, the “First National Robotic Football 
Competition” in China in the second half of 2017. The new competition is expected to significantly raise the reputation and 
boost up the development of Heilongjiang’s robot sports and related training programmes and drive the development of the 
CRC Business in the PRC.
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Chairman’s Statement

“The Development Plan for the Robotics Industry (2016–2020)” jointly issued by the Ministry of Industry and Information 
Technology, the National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of Finance in April 2016 highlighted measures 
to organise and implement talent development plans for the robotics industry, strengthen robotics-related programmes at 
higher learning institutions, and promote robotics professional training education, indicating the great importance attached by 
the government to robot education. Going forward, we will enjoy even greater development opportunities. We will keep a close 
watch on other development opportunities relating China quality education and explore acquisition opportunities in other 
provinces and municipalities. In addition, we will carefully consider expanding our business to robot education-related sectors 
and other sectors with an eye to continuously tapping feasible investment opportunities and achieving the Group’s sustainable 
business growth.

The Chinese government’s support of the education market and the increasing government expenditure on education will drive 
the development of education as an industry. “The Plan on National Educational Development during the 13th Five-Year Plan 
Period” issued by the State Council in January 2017 outlined measures to comprehensively deepen the education reform, 
accelerate education modernisation and build China into an innovative country and a strong country in terms of human 
resources. The plan suggests prioritising expenditure on education with the aim of ensuring that the national fiscal expenditure 
on education as a percentage of the GDP will be not less than 4% by 2020, while the number of students at school will only 
increase, rather than decrease, year by year. Although robot education in China is still in the starting stage with a significant gap 
with western countries in terms of penetration, China’s education industry will enter a golden era as the country’s middle class 
expands and Chinese parents attach increasing importance to children’s education. The year 2017 marks year one of the Group 
in the education market. We believe that, supported by favourable policy, China’s robot education will have a huge potential of 
development. The Group’s quality education business in China will achieve stable development and help take China quality 
education to a new level.

To sum up, the Group will continue with its mission to optimise its quality education-related operations. We will continue to 
leverage our first-mover advantages in China quality education, to develop more high-quality education programmes, and strive 
to build an all-new portfolio of businesses along the entire industry chain. We believe that China quality education will gain even 
more traction and help boost the Group’s overall competitiveness and maximise returns to the Group and its shareholders.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express our gratitude to our shareholders for their tremendous 
support and to my fellow Directors and our management and staff for their dedication and contribution in the past year.

He Chenguang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 June 2017
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REVENUE AND PROFITABILITY
The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$91,507,000 (2016: HK$34,684,000) for the year ended 31 March 2017, 
representing an increase of approximately 163.8% as compared with the year ended 31 March 2016 which was primarily due 
to the consolidation of the results of the Target Group upon completion of the Acquisition.

The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2017 amounted to approximately HK$55,540,000 as compared to 
approximately HK$23,664,000 for the year ended 31 March 2016. The increase was mainly attributable to the consolidation of 
the results of the Target Group upon completion of the Acquisition.

Selling and distribution and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March 2017 was approximately HK$43,338,000 as 
compared to approximately HK$40,652,000 for the year ended 31 March 2016. The increase was mainly attributable to the 
consolidation of the results of the Target Group upon completion of the Acquisition.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
The Group made a profit attributable to owners of approximately HK$3,846,000 for the year ended 31 March 2017 as compared 
to a loss of approximately HK$20,370,000 for the year ended 31 March 2016. The improvement was mainly attributable to the 
completion of the Acquisition.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the performance of the Group by reportable segments is set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
As at 31 March 2017, the Group had outstanding promissory note at principal amount of approximately HK$94.4 million (as at 
31 March 2016: approximately HK$94.4 million) with carrying value of approximately HK$103.8 million (as at 31 March 2016: 
approximately HK$102.0 million). The promissory note was originally unsecured, bearing an interest at the rate of 2% per 
annum, and with maturity date on 10 February 2010. On 30 March 2009, China Communication Investment Limited (“CCI”) 
agreed to vary the terms of promissory note, such that the maturity date was changed to 10 August 2010 (“New Maturity 
Date”). In addition, before the New Maturity Date, the Group has the right to further postpone (“Maturity Postponement 
Right”) the maturity date to 30 June 2012 (“Extended Maturity Date”) if the latest published financial information of the Group 
indicating that the repayment of such principal and accrued interests would cause the net current assets of the Group to fall 
below HK$50 million. Such Maturity Postponement Right can be exercised on 30 June of every year subsequent to the 
Extended Maturity Date until the ultimate maturity date of 30 June 2025. Other than the said promissory note, the Group did 
not have any other committed borrowing facilities as at 31 March 2017 (as at 31 March 2016: HK$Nil).

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$227.2 million (as at 31 March 2016: net current 
assets of approximately HK$25.2 million). The Group’s current assets mainly consisted of cash and cash equivalents of 
approximately HK$92.5 million (as at 31 March 2016: approximately HK$18.0 million) and prepayments, deposits and other 
receivables of approximately HK$32.6 million (as at 31 March 2016: approximately HK$21.8 million). The Group’s current 
liabilities mainly include accruals and other payables of approximately HK$209.6 million (as at 31 March 2016: approximately 
HK$2.0 million), current tax liabilities of approximately HK$17.2 million (as at 31 March 2016: approximately HK$12.6 million, 
training course obligation of approximately HK$21.6 million (as at 31 March 2016: HK$Nil) and promissory note of approximately 
HK$103.8 million (as at 31 March 2016: classified as non-current liabilities of approximately HK$102.0 million).

At present, the Group generally finances its operations and investment activities with internal resources.

GEARING RATIO
The gearing ratio is measured by total interest-bearing borrowings as a percentage of equity. As at 31 March 2017, the gearing 
ratio was 113.6%. As at 31 March 2016, no gearing ratio was available as the Group was in negative equity position. The debt 
to asset ratio, defined as the ratio of total liabilities to total assets, was 2.86 as at 31 March 2016.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
On 16 May 2016, 361,000,000 new ordinary shares were issued and allotted by way of subscription (the “Subscription”). The 
net proceeds of the Subscription (after deducting related professional fees and related expenses) were approximately HK$179.9 
million, and have been used in the following manner: (i) as to HK$30 million for settlement of the entire amount of the 
consideration of the Acquisition; and (ii) as to approximately HK$149.9 million for payment of a portion of the service fee (the 
“Service Fee”) under a service agreement (the “Service Agreement”) by the Target Company (being a subsidiary of the 
Company after the completion of the Acquisition). Given that the Service Fee under the Service Agreement is payable by the 
Target Company (being a subsidiary of the Company after the completion of the Acquisition) to CCI on or before 15 November 
2017, the Company is considering other means of fundraising including, without limitation, by way of equity and/or debt to fund 
the payment of the remaining balance of the Service Fee of approximately HK$200.1 million. The Company will make further 
announcement(s) as and when appropriate in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules in the event that any possible fundraising 
activity materialises. Further details of the Subscription were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 3 May 2016 
and 16 May 2016.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other change in the capital structure during the year.

CHARGE ON ASSETS
The Group did not have any charge on its assets as at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.

EMPLOYEES, REMUNERATION POLICIES AND STAFF COSTS
As at 31 March 2017, the Group had 100 employees (2016: 73). The staff costs for the year ended 31 March 2017 was 
approximately HK$20.3 million (2016: HK$10.7 million). The Group’s remuneration is determined with reference to the market 
conditions and the performance, qualifications and experience of individual employees while year-end bonus is based on the 
individual performance as recognition of and reward for their contributions. Other benefits accruing its employees include share 
option scheme, contributions made to statutory mandatory provident fund scheme and a group medical scheme to its 
employees.

MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSETS
For the year ended 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016, the Group had no significant investment. As at 31 March 2017, the 
Group has no plan for material investments or acquisition of capital assets. Nevertheless, the Group is constantly looking for 
such opportunities to enhance the shareholders’ value.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES
On 9 December 2015, the Company, as purchaser, and Profuse Year Limited (the “Vendor”), as vendor, entered into a sale 
and purchase agreement in relation the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of the Target Company for a consideration 
of HK$30 million. The Target Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the promotion, sales and management of 
an electronic smart card “CRC Shentong Card” in the PRC facilitated by the provision of education and training courses relating 
to robotics standardised by CRC in Heilongjiang Province of the PRC as well as the organisation and hosting of CRC competition 
events in Heilongjiang Province of the PRC which is the key marketing tool for the provision of the above services. The Vendor 
is a connected person of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules by virtue of being an associate of CCI, a substantial 
shareholder of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules. The Acquisition constitutes a very substantial acquisition and 
connected transaction of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules. The relevant resolutions in relation to the Acquisition were 
duly passed by the independent shareholders by way of poll at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 16 
February 2016. The Acquisition was completed on 16 May 2016. Details of the Acquisition were set out in the announcement 
of the Company dated 9 December 2015, the circular of the Company dated 31 December 2015 and the announcement of the 
Company dated 16 May 2016.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries during the year.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The income and expenditure of the Group are mainly carried in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi and the assets and liabilities of 
the Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The Group does not expect significant exposure to 
foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management 
of the Group will monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant currency exposure should the need 
arise.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. He Chenguang, aged 56, joined the Group and was elected as the Chairman of the Group in April 2006. He is responsible 
for formulating the Group’s strategy of overall business development. Mr. He holds a professional qualification in business 
administration and has extensive experience in management of major enterprises, in particular, management, operation and 
strategic development of telecommunication industry in the PRC. Currently, he is the chairman of the board of directors of the 
Company’s substantial shareholder, 神州通信集團有限公司 (China Communication Group Co., Ltd.#) (“CCC”), a nationwide 
telecom operator and internet network operator in the PRC.

Mr. He is the chairman of Professional Energy Committee of The Chinese People’s Association for Friendship with Foreign 
Countries, the vice president of China-Cuba Friendship Association (a friendship association with foreign countries and a 
national people’s organisation of the PRC which was founded in 1962). Mr. He is a part-time professor in Harbin Engineering 
University and University of Science and Technology Beijing. In 2011, Mr. He has also been awarded “Peaceful Development 
Contribution Award” jointly issued by the Chinese People’s Association for Friendship with Foreign Countries and China 
Friendship Foundation for Peace and Development.

Mr. Bao Yueqing, aged 47, joined the Group in April 2010 as an executive Director until 30 June 2011 and subsequently as a 
general manager of the Company in May 2012 and appointed as an executive Director again and chief executive officer of the 
Group in January 2014. He is responsible for the daily operation of the Group and forming and implementation of the 
Company’s business strategies. Mr. Bao holds a Bachelor degree of Economics Management from Heilongjiang University and 
has extensive experience in management of major enterprises, in particular, management, operation and strategic development 
of telecommunication industry in the PRC.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yip Tai Him, aged 46 joined the Group in October 2002. He is currently the chairman of each of the audit committee and 
remuneration committee and member of the nomination committee of the Company. He is responsible for reviewing the 
Company’s annual report and accounts, half yearly reports and quarterly reports and to provide advices and comments thereon 
to the Board.

Mr. Yip is a practising accountant in Hong Kong since 1999. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom 
and the institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He has about 25 years of experience in accounting, auditing 
and financial management.

Mr. Yip was previously an independent non-executive director of iOne Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock 
Exchange), for the period from 8 April 2009 to 21 July 2014, Vinco Financial Group Limited (a company listed on GEM), for the 
period from 20 May 2008 to 1 August 2016, Mega Medical Technology Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange), for 
the period from 28 February 2001 to 20 June 2014, Lajin Entertainment Network Group Limited (a company listed on GEM), for 
the period from 13 December 2008 to 2 April 2015 and an independent non-executive director and non-executive director of 
Larry Jewelry International Company Limited (a company listed on GEM), for the period from 16 May 2014 to 15 October 2014 
and 1 April 2014 to 16 May 2014 respectively. He is currently an independent non-executive director of GCL-Poly Energy 
Holdings Limited, Bisu Technology Group International Limited (formerly known as Excel Development (Holdings) Limited), Sino 
Golf Holdings Limited and Redco Properties Group Limited (all are listed on the Stock Exchange) and New Wisdom Holding 
Company Limited (formerly known as Epicurean and Company, Limited) (a company listed on GEM).

Ms. Han Liqun, aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in January 2014. Ms. Han holds a Bachelor 
degree of Instrumentation and Automation from Taiyuan University of Technology, a Master degree from the Institute of 
Computing Technology of the Chinese Academy of Sciences and a Doctorate degree of Pattern Recognition and Intelligent 
Systems from Beijing Institute of Technology. Ms. Han was a visiting research fellow at City University London.

#  English name is for identification purpose only
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Ms. Han has long been participated in the research in aspects such as artificial neural network theory and applications, pattern 
recognition and intelligent information processing as well as intelligent control and detection. She completed various significant 
scientific and technological research projects with outstanding results on pattern recognition and intelligent detection and 
control issues in light industry, chemical, agricultural, transportation and aerospace industries. Ms. Han also published 136 
theses and 11 books, a number of which were included by various international literature institutions. Furthermore, she chaired 
and participated in over 20 scientific research projects, obtained 4 national invention patents and received a second prize from 
the first Wu Wenjun Artificial Intelligence Science Technology Awards.

Ms. Han, Beijing Outstanding Teacher, has been engaged in education for more than 27 years and taught 15 courses. She has 
taught in Beijing Light Industry School under the Ministry of Light Industry of the PRC and Beijing Technology and Business 
University as the Dean, illustrating her outstanding teaching and research achievements. She chaired over 20 education reforms 
in the Ministry of Education of the PRC, Ministry of Light Industry, Beijing Municipal Commission of Education, etc. By virtue of 
her teaching results, she received a grand prize and a first prize from the Institutional Outstanding Teaching Achievement 
Awards and a second prize from the Beijing Teaching Achievement Awards.

Ms. Han is currently the Executive Vice President of Chinese Association for Artificial Intelligence and the Chairman of the 
Working Committee of Intelligence Products and Industry, the Chairman of the Expert Committee of the Working Committee of 
the China Robotics Sports, the Executive Vice President of China Intelligence Robots Innovation Alliance (全國智能機器人創新
聯盟), the Chairman of the International Robotics Competition and Maker Education Alliance (國際機器人競技與創客教育聯盟), 
the Vice President of the Simulation Application Society of China Computer Users Association, the Deputy Director of the 
Editorial Board of “Computer Simulation” and the Associate Editor-in-Chief of ”CAAI Transactions on Intelligent Systems”.

Ms. Zhang Li, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in March 2014. Ms. Zhang holds a Bachelor 
of Engineering in Solid Mechanics from the Department of Mathematics and Mechanics of Henan University of Science and 
Technology, China, a Master of Engineering in Mechanical Design from the Department of Mechanical Design of Henan 
University of Science and Technology, China, and a Doctor of Engineering in Composite Materials from the School of Material 
Engineering of Wuhan University of Technology, China. Ms. Zhang is a professor at the School of Material and Mechanical 
Engineering of Beijing Technology and Business University, China, instructing the graduates and doctoral students. She was 
also the dean of the School of Mechanical Automation, the dean of the School of Mechanical Engineering and the deputy 
director of the Office of Evaluation and Construction for Undergraduate Assessment of Beijing Technology and Business 
University. Since 2007, Ms. Zhang has been to Canada, Singapore, the United States, the United Kingdom, Australia and other 
countries for academic exchanges and visits.

Ms. Zhang’s expertise is in the study of mechanical automation and composite materials. Ms. Zhang has outstanding 
achievements in education and scientific research. Ms. Zhang focuses on the study of mechanical design and mechanics of 
composite materials, and engages in the design, manufacture and application of advanced composite material components as 
well as computer-aided engineering. She has chaired or participated in over 30 projects, such as “Research of Thermal Dynamic 
Performance of Composite Engines” by National Natural Science Foundation of China, National Science and Technology 
Support Program, the science and technology development project of “Research of Dynamic Performance of Composite 
Flywheels” by Beijing Municipal Commission of Education, talent training funded projects in Beijing and enterprise service 
projects. Ms. Zhang has published over 100 academic papers, some of which were included by various international literature 
institutions. She published 16 books, translations and textbooks and 1 Beijing quality textbook.

Ms. Zhang, an Excellent Teacher, has engaged in education for over 34 years. She was awarded the title of National Excellent 
Teacher, Top Creative Talent in Beijing Universities and the award of Top Teacher in Beijing Universities. She has also been 
merited as the Backbone Teacher of Mechanical Engineering across the century. Ms. Zhang served as the leader of Beijing 
Academic Innovation Team and won the First Class Award for School Education and Teaching Achievement. She was 
responsible for the completion of the Country’s “10th five-year” key planning issues for tertiary education “Research on the 
education reform of new international division for electrical and mechanical engineering” and the Beijing education reform 
project “Improvement, reform and discussion on the education system, methodology and contents of engineering mechanics”. 
She was also funded by the Beijing inter-organisational talent project.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Dr. Wong Lee Ping, aged 52, joined the Group in March 2015, is the investor relationship representative of the Group. He is 
responsible for the Group’s strategy for investor relations functions. Dr. Wong is a certified public accountant of the HKICPA 
and also a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Dr. Wong holds a Doctor degree of Corporate 
Management from Jinan University of PRC and MBA from University of Portsmouth, UK.

Mr. Yiu King Ming, aged 32, joined the Group in September 2015, is the financial controller and company secretary of the 
Group. He is responsible for financial planning and reporting and general administration of the Group. Mr. Yiu holds a Bachelor 
Degree of Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Yiu is a member of the HKICPA. Prior to joining to the 
Group, he worked in a multinational accounting firm and has over 9 years’ experience in auditing.

Ms. Chow Tsz Yan, joined the Group in February 2016, is the Head of Corporate Communications of the Group. She is 
responsible for the operation and strategic direction of the Group’s corporate communication. Ms. Chow holds a Bachelor of 
International Corporate Communication from the University of Central Lancashire.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company acknowledges that good and effective corporate governance could make an important contribution to corporate 
success and enhance values to the Group and our shareholders. Therefore, the Board is committed to maintain and ensure the 
standards of corporate governance within the Group and to ensure that the business activities and decision making processes 
are regulated in a proper and responsible manner. Save as disclosed below, the Group has adopted the practices and code 
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules throughout 
the year ended 31 March 2017.

Under Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent non-executive Directors and other non-executive directors should 
attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of the shareholders. Ms. Han Liqun and Ms. Zhang 
Li, the independent non-executive Directors, were unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 5 
August 2016 (the “2016 AGM”) due to their other business activities and unexpected engagement.

In addition, under the Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the Board should attend the annual general 
meeting of the Company and he should also invite the chairman of the audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination 
committee and any other committees (as appropriate) of the Company to attend. Mr. He Chenguang (chairman of the Board 
and chairman of the nomination committee of the Company) was unable to attend the 2016 AGM due to an unexpected 
engagement. Mr. Bao Yueqing (executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company) was appointed as the chairman 
of the 2016 AGM to answer and address questions raised by shareholders of the Company at the 2016 AGM.

Save as disclosed above, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the CG 
Code. The key principles and practices of the Company are summarised below.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to 
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. During the year ended 31 March 2017, all Directors have participated in 
continuous professional development programmes such as attending external conferences, seminars organised by qualified 
professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board. The Company is of 
the view that all Directors has complied with the code provisions A.6.5. A record of the training received by the respective 
Directors are kept and updated by the company secretary of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the 
required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 
2017. The Company also had made specific enquiry of all the Directors and the Company was not aware of any non-compliance 
with the required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five Directors in which two are executive Directors and three are independent 
non-executive Directors. During the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of this report, the Board comprises the 
following Directors:

Executive Directors:
Mr. He Chenguang, Chairman of the Board
Mr. Bao Yueqing, Chief Executive Officer

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Yip Tai Him
Ms. Han Liqun
Ms. Zhang Li
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The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 
10 to 12 of this report.

The number of the Board meetings and the other committees’ meetings held for the year ended 31 March 2017 and the 
attendance of each Director are as follows:

Numbers of the meetings attended/held

Board
Nomination
Committee

Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

     

Executive Directors
Mr. He Chenguang 13/13 0/0 N/A N/A
Mr. Bao Yueqing 13/13 N/A N/A N/A

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yip Tai Him 13/13 0/0 5/5 3/3
Ms. Han Liqun 13/13 0/0 5/5 3/3
Ms. Zhang Li 13/13 0/0 5/5 3/3

During the year, a total of one general meeting of the Company was held and the attendance record is as follow:

Number of 
the meeting 

attended/held
  

Executive Directors
Mr. He Chenguang 0/1
Mr. Bao Yueqing 1/1

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yip Tai Him 1/1
Ms. Han Liqun 0/1
Ms. Zhang Li 0/1

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and lead the Group in an ethical, responsible and effective manner. The Board 
sets the overall strategic directions of the Group, establishes effective management and monitors its performance. The Board 
is required to meet at least four times a year in addition to the meetings to approve the financial results. Notice of at least 14 
days is given for a regular Board meeting and reasonable notice is generally given to all Directors for other Board meetings. 
Apart from these regular meeting, Board meetings are also held to approve major issues and notice of each regular meeting is 
given to all Directors. All relevant materials, including draft minutes were sent to all Directors relating to the matters brought 
before the meeting to ensure that the Directors are given sufficient time to review the same. All the Directors have been 
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties, and, upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able to seek 
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. All Directors will have the 
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for Board meetings. Matters requiring the Board’s unanimous decision include 
material acquisitions or disposals of assets, significant investments, capital projects, annual budgets, and key issues relating to 
human resources and administration matters.
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According to the practice of the Board, any material transaction, which involves a conflict of interest for a substantial 
shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or a Director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a Board 
meeting. The articles of association (the “Articles”) contain certain provision requiring such Directors to abstain from voting and 
not to be counted in the quorum at such meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their respective 
associates have a material interests.

Daily operations and administration are delegated to the senior management team. All the said minutes are kept by the 
company secretary of the Company and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

According to the Articles of the Company, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if 
their number is not three or multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by 
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. All Directors 
appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall be subject to election by the Shareholders at the first 
general meeting after their appointment.

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year, Directors have regular updates on changes and developments of the 
Group’s business and to the regulatory environments in which the Company operates. All Directors are also encouraged to 
attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are held by separate individuals. The role and responsibilities of 
the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive Officer. The position of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is 
held by Mr. He Chenguang and Mr. Bao Yueqing respectively. The Chairman was responsible for leading the Board in forming 
the Group’s strategies and policies and for organising the business of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer was responsible 
for the daily operations of the Group and was accountable to the Board for the Group’s financial and operational performance.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors representing two-third of the Board. The independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific 
term. All the three independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a term of one year and they are subject to 
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.

The Company has received the annual independence confirmation from each of Mr. Yip Tai Him, Ms. Han Liqun and Ms. Zhang 
Li (all being independent non-executive Directors) pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board has assessed 
their independence and concluded that all of them satisfied the independence criteria. Amongst three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Yip Tai Him has the appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and related financial 
management expertise required under Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules.

To assist the execution of its responsibilities, three Board committees, namely Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and 
Nomination Committee, have been established by the Board. These committees well function within the clearly defined terms 
of reference. All independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in these committees to ensure the independence 
and objectivity.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
At the Board meeting held on 1 April 2005, a Remuneration Committee has been established. The Remuneration Committee 
consists of three members, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by 
Mr. Yip Tai Him and meets at least once a year.
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The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are to review and recommend the remuneration packages of the 
Directors and the senior management of the Group, oversee and review the administration of the Share Option Scheme and to 
review the appropriateness of compensation for Directors and the senior management of the Group. No Directors is involved in 
determining his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee takes into consideration the market condition, comparable companies, past performance and the 
experience and knowledge possessed when determining remuneration packages of the Directors. The remuneration package 
for executive Directors comprises a basic salary and a discretionary bonus for their contributions in accordance with code 
provisions B.1.2(c)(ii). All revision to remuneration packages of the Directors are subject to the review and approval of the 
Board.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS
At the Board meeting held on 30 April 2012, a Nomination Committee has been established. The Nomination Committee 
consists of four members, of which the present Nomination Committee consists of a majority of independent non-executive 
Directors. The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. He Chenguang. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to 
review the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and to make recommendations to the Board on 
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors. It also has 
the responsibility to ensure the Board has an appropriate balance of independent Directors, with a mix of business experience 
in relevant disciplines. According to the board diversity policy adopted by the Nomination Committee, Board diversity has been 
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and 
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of 
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. The final decision will be based on 
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

All Directors are subject to election by shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting. The new Directors are notified 
on the role of the Board and Board Committee, their duties and obligation as a director of a listed company.

Mr. Bao Yueqing and Ms. Zhang Li will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and the re-election of Mr. Bao Yueqing 
as executive Director and Ms. Zhang Li as independent non-executive Director are to be proposed at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for the following corporate governance functions:

•	 to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to the 
Board;

•	 to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;
•	 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
•	 to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and 

Directors;
•	 to review the Company’s compliance with the code provisions and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and
•	 such other corporate governance and functions set out in the code provisions (as amended from time to time) for which 

the Board are responsible.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The Company has appointed RSM Hong Kong as the auditors of the Group (the “Auditor”) since April 2011. The Audit 
Committee is responsible for considering the appointment of the external auditor, including whether such non-audit 
engagements could affect their independence. The Board is authorised in the annual general meeting to determine the 
remuneration of the Auditor. For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Auditor’s remuneration in connection with the provision of 
audit and non-audit services paid by the Group were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March
2017 2016
HK$ HK$

   

Statutory audit services 650,000 538,000
Non-audit services 700,000 2,012,000
   

1,350,000 2,550,000
   

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The written terms of reference, which describe the authorities and duties of the Audit Committee, were implemented in 
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee comprises three members, all of whom are independent non-
executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Yip Tai Him.

The Audit Committee meets at least four times each year. The main duties of the Audit Committee are summarised as follows:

—	 Discuss the work with the external auditors of the Company;
—	 Meet with external auditors of the Company, when they consider necessary;
—	 Review the quarterly, interim and annual financial statements and the report of the independent auditors on the 

Company’s annual consolidated financial statements before these are presented to the Board;
—	 Ensure the quarterly, interim and annual consolidated financial statements are properly prepared;
—	 Review the independence of the external auditors annually;
—	 Ensure that cooperation is provided by management to the external auditors; and
—	 Review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system.

The Audit Committee is empowered to conduct investigations on any matters within the scope of responsibilities of the Audit 
Committee. The Audit Committee is authorised to obtain independent professional advices if it deems necessary to discharge 
its responsibilities.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Audit Committee held five meetings in which the members of the Audit Committee 
reviewed and concluded with satisfaction in relation to the internal control system of the Group and the following reports:

—	 Annual report for the year ended 31 March 2016;
—	 Quarterly reports for the first quarter and third quarter of 2016/17;
—	 Interim report for the first six months of 2016/17; and
—	 Review of continuing connected transactions of the Group.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the accounts of the Company. The Group had net current liabilities 
of approximately HK$227,207,000 as at 31 March 2017. This condition indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which 
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, it may be unable to realise its 
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Nevertheless, the directors had adopted the going concern basis in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
of the Group based on the following:

(a)	 On 15 November 2016, the Group agreed with CCI to postpone the repayment date to 15 November 2017 for an amount 
of HK$200,100,000 due to CCI and the directors expect that the repayment date will be further postponed successfully.

(b)	 On 31 May 2017, the Group agreed with CCI to postpone the maturity date of the promissory note to 30 June 2018.

(c)	 The directors have obtained the confirmation from CCC, the holding company of CCI and regarded as the substantial 
shareholder of the Company, that CCC will continue to provide adequate funds for the Group to meet its present and 
future financial obligations as they fall due, and to cause CCI to postpone the repayment dates of any present and future 
liabilities due to CCI by the Group when necessary.

Having regard to the financial support of CCC and CCI, at a level sufficient to finance the working capital requirements of the 
Group, the directors are therefore of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a 
going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to the 
consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any 
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities, 
respectively.

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to their financial reporting are set out in the Independent Auditor’s 
Report on pages 38 to 41 of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining sound and effective risk management and internal control systems in order 
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and to provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Company does not maintain an internal audit function. The Company engaged a professional company to perform a risk 
management and internal control review occasionally in order to strengthen the risk management and to perform ongoing 
internal control system of the Group. The Company is of the opinion that taking into account the size and complexity of the 
Group’s operations and business and the nature of the risks and challenges the Group faces and there is no immediate need to 
build up an internal audit function within the Group. The Company will review the need on an annual basis.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the 
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Yiu King Ming has been the company secretary of the Company since September 2015. Mr. Yiu has confirmed that he has 
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 March 2017. The Company is of the view 
that Mr. Yiu has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Right to put forward proposals and to convene a general meeting
In accordance with the Company’s Article 69, two or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition of not 
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, shall 
at all times have the right by written requisition to the Company, to require a general meeting to be called by the Board for the 
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. If the Board does not within twenty-one (21) days from the date of 
deposit of such requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further twenty-one (21) days, the 
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may 
convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the 
Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of the 
deposit of such requisitions, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board 
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their written enquiries or requests in respect of their rights to the principal place of business 
of the Company in Hong Kong at Units 2115–2116, 21/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168–200 Connaught Road 
Central, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Board.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
The annual general meeting provides an opportunity for Shareholders to exchange their views with the Board. Mr. Bao Yueqing 
(executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company) had attended the annual general meeting for Year 2016 held on 
5 August 2016 to answer questions from Shareholders. The Company’s website (http://www.srobotedu.com) offers a 
communication channel between the Company and the Shareholders and potential investors.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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I.	 ABOUT THIS REPORT
Scope of Report
This is the first environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report of Shentong Robot Education Group Company 
Limited (referred to as the “Group” or “we” in this report), for the financial year ended 31 March 2017. This report covers 
our principal business activities in the Chinese mainland — the promotion, sales and management of an electronic smart 
card Shentong Card, organisation of national robot competition, and provision of related training courses and robot 
experience.

HKEx Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
To comply with the disclosure requirements and guidance set out in the Appendix 20 “Environmental, Social and 
Governance Reporting Guide” to the GEM Listing Rules, the Group began disclosure of its ESG information from the 
financial year beginning 1 April 2016. To support the building of a “Healthy China” and the development of the healthcare 
industry, we are committed to improving the public awareness of physical fitness, especially the interest of the young 
people in sports, by organising China Robot Competition (“CRC”) events, providing related training courses, and investing 
in trainer development for enhanced training quality. The Shentong Card was launched in response to the growing global 
concern for environmental protection and geared to promoting paperless practices. Through our continuously optimised 
measures in extensive areas including operating practices, talent training and community investment, we strive to, while 
creating value for our shareholders/investors, minimise the impacts of our business activities on the environment, and are 
committed to making good and efficient use of resources for the sustainable development of the earth, humankind and 
business and the creation of a more beautiful and harmonious ecological environment and green society.

We welcome any comments and suggestions on this report and on our performance in sustainable development.

II.	 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
We are committed to promoting the rapidly developing smart electronic card and online gateway payment services. This 
is not just a business strategy of the Group, but also a bid of leveraging our advantages and strengths to seize the 
emerging business opportunity in the robustly growing Chinese market and to create an important platform in furtherance 
of paperless practices in China. In addition, we are aware of the importance of improving employees’ awareness of 
environmental protection and have taken a series of measures to reduce emission and our carbon footprint. We will 
continue supporting measures to reduce the impacts of personal and business activities on the environment. And we 
encourage every employee to influence their relatives and friends in environmental protection to join forces to help 
mitigate climate change.

1.	 Emissions Management
In our everyday operating activities, greenhouse gas emissions are mainly from energy consumed at our offices and 
training centres, and we take various measures (see the “Resources Utilization Management” section for details) 
to conserve energy and reduce energy consumption and its impacts on the environment. Waste management 
mainly involves waste paper collection and recycling (see the “Resources Utilization Management” section for 
details). Our everyday operating activities do not generate any hazardous waste.
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2.	 Resources Utilization Management
The Group is aware of its responsibility of protecting the environment in the course of its operating and business 
activities and mindful of and identify and take measures to reduce the impacts of its activities on the environment. 
We raise employees’ awareness of the importance of resource conservation and require them to comply with our 
resource conservation measures to maximise resource utilisation and eliminate waste.

(1)	 Electricity conservation
We emphasise electricity conservation with extensive measures to foster conservation habits and improve 
electricity efficiency. Measures include using energy-efficient electric appliances such as lightings, 
photocopiers and printers; turning off office equipment like computers, photocopiers, printers and air-
conditioners and unplugging computers and peripherals during non-working hours such as night time and 
weekends; encouraging employees to turn off lightings when natural lighting is sufficient; using air-
conditioners optimally according to relevant factors such as season and temperature, switching off air-
conditioners at the quitting time, and keeping doors and windows closed when air-conditioners are in use; 
and checking and ensuring that electric appliances such as computers used by themselves and at their 
departments are turned off at the quitting time to reduce energy consumption to the minimum.

(2)	 Water conservation
Water conservation is part of everyday life, with a number of measures being in place to enhance the 
employees’ awareness, including not using drinking water for any other purpose; using water sparingly; and 
turning off water faucets immediately after use.

(3)	 Paper conservation
We are committed to building a paperless workplace, especially by leveraging our office automation system, 
with all general notice and information being transmitted via the network wherever appropriate so long as the 
network is working. Paper products are purchased centrally. Paper use for purposes such as printing, 
photocopying and faxing is minimised, and paper is printed or photocopied on both sides as far as possible; 
and paper printed on one side is re-used for printing on the other side (for printing internal documents). Waste 
paper printed on both side is put into a recycling bin for recycling by qualified companies.

Compliance
During the reporting period, the Group was not involved in any confirmed environmental violation with a significant impact 
on the Group.

3.	 Significant Impact on the Environment and Natural Resources
We have no significant impact on the environment or natural resources. The main resources consumed at the 
Group are electricity, water and paper used in our workplace. During the reporting period, we formulated measures 
to reduce resource consumption and dispose of waste appropriately (see the “Emissions Management” and 
“Resources Utilization Management” sections).
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III.	 EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
We always strive to create a harmonious and comfortable workplace with a comprehensive management system. Our 
human resources policy is oriented to the Group’s long-term development and interests and geared to building a 
harmonious corporate culture. We encourage employees to build friendly and harmonious interpersonal relationships, 
support collaboration and teamwork, and do great work together by overcoming difficulties and challenges with great 
team spirit. We have comprehensive internal systems including recruitment and promotion based on the basic principles 
of fairness, justice and transparency and provide employees with excellent career development opportunities, 
encouraging them to make constant progress and cherish and build the Group’s corporate culture. We make our labour 
policies in accordance with the different labour regulations in different regions.

Recruitment
Emphasising ability over education, and looking for virtue as well as talent in recruits, we are committed to building a fair, 
inclusive and diversified corporate culture and encourage employees to respect and learn from each other and make 
progress together in an atmosphere of fair competition. Our recruitment is according to requirements in terms of 
extensive dimensions including morality, knowledge, ability, health and job responsibilities. We provide employees with 
equal opportunity to promotion, performance evaluation, training and career development and enable them to develop 
with the Group. No employee will be discriminated on account of race, sex, age, region, or religious beliefs. We 
encourage employees to understand, accept and embrace each other and have positive influence on the Group’s 
sustainable development. We fully and strictly comply with applicable labour laws and regulations and strictly forbid any 
form of illegal employment such as child labour and forced labour.

Employee compensation and benefits
We are committed to building harmonious labour-employer relations for win-win and our employee compensation varies 
from region to region. To attract and retain high-calibre employees, we have put in place a competitive compensation 
system that considers a comprehensive range of factors including knowledge, skills, experience and education of 
employees. Basic employee compensation covers a fixed salary, working meal allowance and paid leaves, among others. 
We strictly abide by national and local labour laws and regulations. Employees are entitled to all statutory rights including 
leave of absence, sick leave, marriage leave, funeral leave and maternity leave. Employees in the Mainland are all covered 
by social security, “five insurances” scheme and the Housing Accumulation Fund scheme, and employees in Hong Kong 
participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) scheme. Our working and overtime hours, including overtime 
compensation or arrangements such as overtime pay or days off in lieu of overtime, are in accordance with applicable 
labour regulations. All terminations, including termination benefits, are also in accordance with applicable labour 
regulations.

We care for employees’ physical and mental wellbeing and organise all kinds of activities outside of work such as chess, 
card, and calligraphy competitions to meet their increasing recreational needs. We also organise parties and dinners for 
important holidays such as the Spring Festival. These activities not only enrich employees’ life outside work but also build 
team solidarity.

Development and Training
A staff that is high-calibre, professional, well-trained and responsible plays an important role in improving the Group’s core 
competitiveness and driving its sustainable high-speed business growth. With this understanding, we have formulated 
long-term employee development strategies to provide training geared to improving employees’ job skills and 
management capabilities, in addition to encouraging them to pursue continuous improvement and lifelong learning. 
Employee training includes induction training and on-the-job training (employee training and executive training). New 
recruits will receive induction training with content including corporate culture, management systems, job requirements, 
performance evaluation and, for employees in special and critical positions, qualification and accreditation. On-the-job 
training covers updates on regulatory compliance, business and industry knowledge, product knowledge, trainings or 
seminars on specialised skills, and trainings on general management skills. Continuous training not only helps improve 
employee knowledge and competence but also ensures that the relevant employees are sufficiently equipped with the 
technical knowledge and professional skills needed to provide customers with high-quality services.
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Health and Safety
We approach health and safety in a comprehensive way and make the prevention of diseases and injuries an integral part 
of our routine management. We participate in multiple fire drills organised by the property management company every 
year and are clear about the procedures to be taken in the event of a fire to ensure effective evacuation. The robot 
competition training centre is also designed to not only provide a safe training ground for trainees but also ensure the 
health and safety of our trainers.

Compliance
During the reporting period, the Group was not involved in any confirmed labour violation with a significant impact on the 
Group.

IV.	 OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management
We believe that a sustainable supply chain creates value for employees, suppliers, service providers, the community and 
customers alike, and we emphasise positive interaction and communication with suppliers and service providers. With a 
reputable credit history, favourable goodwill, high product/service quality, excellent compliance records, and commitment 
to building long-term strategic partnership with reputable entities, we are strongly positioned to build an efficient supply 
chain with suppliers and service providers. We review their performance on a regular basis to better control and ensure 
the quality of our products and services. In addition, we have different channels for employees, suppliers, customers and 
personnel related to our business activities to blow the whistle on any malpractices or irregularities. During the reporting 
period, the Group did not find any significant malpractice or irregularity.

Product/Service Responsibility
Our CRC business organises China Robot Competition (CRC) events and provides related training courses in Heilongjiang 
province. We have strict requirements on trainer qualifications and conduct, and the training centre’s environment to 
ensure that trainees will receive high-quality and efficient training in a safe training venue. As technology develops rapidly, 
we require our trainers to update their knowledge and professional skills to maintain their services at a high level.

The Shentong Card is a service developed by CCC for promotion, sales and management by the Group. The R&D work is 
done by a professional R&D team to ensure the high quality of Shentong Card. In addition, the R&D team receives 
continuous training to make the service up to date technologically and meet customers’ more sophisticated needs. As 
the Shentong Card system stores a lot of personal data, we have established a strict confidentiality system, under which 
no employee shall disclose any personal data of customers to any third party without customers’ consent and any 
violation will be punished by the Company. Furthermore, we have an after-sales service system to handle customer 
requests and provide them with technical support for Shentong Card.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any significant product/service related violation or non-compliance.

Anti-corruption
We have the deep belief that fairness, honesty and integrity are important business assets of the Group. To strengthen 
internal controls and provide top-quality services with complete business integrity, the Group has fortified its internal 
systems in the light of its actual conditions by subjecting the entire business to discipline inspection and oversight, 
ensuring that any violations of discipline, regulations or laws such as abuse of power for personal gains, bribery, extortion, 
fraudulency or money-laundering can be reported to the management directly or in writing with absolute confidentiality, 
and continuously optimising the Group’s whistle-blowing mechanisms, thus resolutely combating corruption and 
contributing to the building of a clean social environment.

During the reporting period, the Group was not involved in any litigation case against the Group or its employees for 
corruption.



SHENTONG ROBOT EDUCATION GROUP COMPANY LIMITED24

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

V.	 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
We organise China Robot Competition (CRC) events and provide related training courses in Heilongjiang province. With 
respect to the participants, our activities not only increase their technology knowledge but also build their skills in 
communication and collaboration as well as cohesion. With respect to policy, our activities are in line with China’s 
“Healthy China” initiative, which highlights health as a requisite for the development of individuals and society and the 
health of citizens as an important indicator of a country’s affluence and strength and a common aspiration of all people, by 
engaging people in CRC events and improving their physical fitness and health. With respect to society, our activities 
waken and improve people’s capabilities in creation, technological innovation and educational innovation and help develop 
a large amount of excellent high-quality professionals for the country. The sports industry of which we are a driver plays 
an important role in meeting people’s diversified needs of sports, safeguarding and improving livelihood, expanding 
domestic demand, increasing employment, and strengthening the country’s national solidarity and cultural 
competitiveness.

Environmental protection is a global concern, where the protection of trees which absorb carbon dioxide and alleviate the 
greenhouse effect features prominently. In this regard, the Shentong Card that we promote, which not only supports 
various connected devices (via the Internet, telecommunications networks, television networks and financial networks) 
but also is the only smart comprehensive educational billing card in China used for payment and smart management in 
connection with CRC competition events and training courses, plays a positive role by advancing paperless practices, thus 
reducing paper use and energy consumption, and ultimately reducing deforestation and alleviating the greenhouse effect 
and the global warming.

We always pay taxes in accordance with the law and spare no efforts to help local governments address employment 
pressure; we cover our Mainland employees with the “five insurances and one fund” scheme and our Hong Kong 
employees with the MPF scheme to help them plan their retirement arrangements; and we always maintain excellent 
operations and are committed to promoting green and environmental concepts and fostering a sustainable order of 
development, with a remarkable contribution to maintaining social stability and building harmonious communities.

VI.	 SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND GOAL FOR 2017/18
For the year of 2017/18, we have set the following plan and goal to strengthen our ESG performance:

Plan/Goal Highlights
  

Optimise the existing ESG system  
  and processes

•	 Examine existing processes of ESG data collection and their integrity 
and accuracy

•	 Establish environmental protection KPIs and determine the order of 
priority and timetable of creation of other ESG KPIs

•	 Strengthen communication with stakeholders (including investors, 
suppliers, customers and society), collect their concerns, and make in-
depth analysis
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and 
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

Details of the principal activities of the subsidiary companies are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the business review required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance including an 
analysis on financial key performance indication of likely future development in the Group business, employment policy and 
subsequent events can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 
4 to 9 of the annual report. Those discussion forms part of this “Directors’ Report”.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in note 6 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

As a responsible corporation, the Company is committed to protecting the environment in the areas where we operate. To 
ensure our business development and sustainability, the Company endeavors to comply with the laws and regulations regarding 
environmental protection and to adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste 
reduction. Details of the Group’s environmental policies & performance are set out in the section headed “Environmental, 
Social and Governance Report” on pages 20 to 24 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Company is incorporated in Cayman Islands with its shares listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited. The Group’s subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong and the PRC. The 
Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC while the Group also has a corporate and 
administrative office in Hong Kong.

The Group’s establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in Cayman Islands, the 
British Virgin Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year under review, the Group complied with all the relevant laws and 
regulations in Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands, the PRC and Hong Kong that have a significant impact on the Group.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contributions to results by principal activities for the year is set out in note 9 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 
42 of this report.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company at 31 March 2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of financial 
position and statement of financial position on page 44 of this report and note 29(a) to the consolidated financial statements 
respectively.
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DIVIDENDS
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends in respect of the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$Nil).

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statements 
of changes in equity on page 45 and note 29(b) to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2017 are set out in note 28 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2017, the Company had reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the 
Cayman Islands Companies Law, amounting to approximately HK$71,614,000. The share premium account of the Company of 
approximately HK$1,249,389,000 as at 31 March 2017 is distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately following 
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when 
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

DONATIONS
No donations were made to charities by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$Nil).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all employees. With effect from 1 
December 2000, the Group has joined a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong. 
The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund 
Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of 
an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to 
the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules of the scheme. The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in 
the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC government. These subsidiaries are 
required to contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of the Group 
with respect to these schemes is to make the required contributions under the schemes.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights either under the Articles, or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige 
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s 
shares.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION SUMMARY
A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years 
is set out on page 3.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary companies had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares on 
the GEM during the year ended 31 March 2017.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”) pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at 
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 7 August 2013. Summary of the 2013 Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(a)	 Purpose and Participants of the 2013 Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the 2013 Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to (i) any employees (including, 
without limitation, executive Directors) of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) any non-executive Directors 
(including, without limitation, independent non-executive Directors) of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries; (iii) any 
consultants, suppliers or customers of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries; (iv) any employee (whether full-time or 
part-time and including Directors) of any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which the Group holds any equity interest; and/
or (v) any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group eligible for 
share options under the 2013 Share Option Scheme (the “Eligible Participants”) as incentives or rewards for their 
contribution to the Company and/or its Subsidiaries.

(b)	 Maximum number of shares available for issue
The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon the exercise of all options which initially shall not 
in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the 2013 Share Option Scheme. Thereafter, 
if refreshed, the maximum number shall not exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed 
limit by the shareholders.

The limit of the 2013 Share Option Scheme can be issued under the 2013 Share Option Scheme was 129,469,701 which 
is equivalent to 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the annual general meeting of the 
Company held on 7 August 2013.

Subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and the approval of the shareholders of the Company (the 
“Shareholders”) in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the GEM Listing Rules from time to 
time, the Board may:

(i)	 refresh this limit at any time to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of the approval by the 
Shareholders in general meeting (options previously granted under any share option schemes of the Company 
(including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with such schemes or exercised options) will not be 
counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as refreshed).

(ii)	 grant options beyond the 10% limit to Eligible Participants specifically identified by the Board whereupon the 
Company shall send a circular to the Shareholders containing a generic description of the specified participants who 
may be granted such options, the number and terms of the options to be granted and the purpose of granting 
options to the specified participants with an explanation as to how the options serve such purpose.

(iii)	 notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding 
options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2013 Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes 
of the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time. No 
options shall be granted under any schemes of the Company or any of its subsidiary companies if this will result in 
the 30% limit being exceeded.

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, options to subscribe for a total of 18,000,000 option 
shares were still outstanding under the 2013 Share Option Scheme which represents approximately 1.1% of the issued 
ordinary shares of the Company.



SHENTONG ROBOT EDUCATION GROUP COMPANY LIMITED28

Directors’ Report

(c)	 Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participant
The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Participant or 
Grantee (including exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% 
of the shares in issue. Where it is proposed that any offer is to be made to an Eligible Participant (or where approximate, 
an existing Grantee) which would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to 
be granted to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period up to and 
including the relevant date of grant to exceed such limit, such offer and any acceptance thereof must be conditional upon 
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such Eligible Participant (or where appropriate, an existing Grantee) and 
his, her or its associates abstaining from voting.

The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders disclosing the identity of the Eligible Participant or Grantee, the 
number and terms of options to be granted (and options previously granted) to such Eligible Participant, the information 
required under the GEM Listing Rules. The number and terms (including the subscription price) of options to be granted 
to such Eligible Participant must be fixed before the date on which Shareholders’ approval is sought and the date of the 
Board meeting for proposing such further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the 
subscription price.

(d)	 Price of shares
The subscription price for a share of the Company in respect of any particular option granted under the 2013 Share Option 
Scheme (which shall be payable upon exercise of the option) shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion 
shall determine, save that such price will not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares of the 
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business day 
(and for this purpose shall be taken to be the date of the Board meeting at which the Board proposes to grant the 
options); (b) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for 
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

(e)	 Granting options to connected persons
Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the 
Company, or any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) must be approved by the 
independent non-executive Directors (excluding the independent non- executive Director who is the proposed grantee of 
the option).

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company or an 
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) would 
result in the shares issued or to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted or to be granted (including options 
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:

(i)	 representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of shares of the Company in issue; and

(ii)	 having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by 
the Stock Exchange at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options must be 
approved by Shareholders of the Company.

The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders disclosing (i) details of the number and terms of the options to be 
granted; (ii) a recommendation from the independent non-executive Directors (excluding an independent non-executive 
Director who is the proposed grantee of the options) on whether or not to vote in favour of the proposed grant; (iii) the 
information relating to any Directors who are trustees of the scheme or have a direct or indirect interest in the trustees; 
and (iv) the information required under the GEM Listing Rules. Any change in the terms of options granted to a connected 
person or its associates must be approved by Shareholders in a general meeting.
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(f)	 Time of exercise of option
There is no general requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised but the 
Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option. 
The date of grant of any particular option is the date when the duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the 
option duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of 
consideration is received by the Company, such date must be on or before the 30th day after the option is offered to the 
relevant grantee. The period during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute 
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than 10 years after it has been granted. No option may be granted 
more than 10 years after the date of approval of the 2013 Share Option Scheme. Subject to earlier termination by the 
Company in general meeting or by the Board, the 2013 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 
10 years after the date of adoption of the 2013 Share Option Scheme by Shareholders by resolution at the general 
meeting.

Particulars of the outstanding options which have been granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme as at 31 March 2017 
were as follows:

Number of share options 

Name or
category of
participant Date of grant

Exercisable
period

Exercise
price

per share

Closing price
per share

immediately
before

date of grant

As at
1 April

2016

Granted
during

the period

Exercised
during

the period

Lapsed
during

the period

Cancelled
during

the period

As at 
31 March

2017
HK$ HK$

           

Directors
He Chenguang 26 August 2016 26 August 2016 to 

  25 August 2019
  (both days inclusive)

0.53 0.53 – 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000

Bao Yueqing 26 August 2016 26 August 2016 to 
  25 August 2019
  (both days inclusive)

0.53 0.53 – 5,000,000 – – – 5,000,000

           
Sub-total – 7,000,000 – – – 7,000,000           
Other Eligible
  Participants
In aggregate 26 August 2016 26 August 2016 to 

  25 August 2019
  (both days inclusive)

0.53 0.53 – 11,000,000 – – – 11,000,000

           

Total – 18,000,000 – – – 18,000,000
           

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or 
debentures of the Company or other body corporate granted to any Directors or their respective associates, or were any such 
rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to 
enable the Directors, or their respective associates to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Details of the valuation of the share options are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. He Chenguang
Mr. Bao Yueqing

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yip Tai Him
Ms. Han Liqun
Ms. Zhang Li

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of the Company, one-third (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, 
than the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation at 
the annual general meeting of the Company but shall then be eligible for re-election provided that every Director shall be subject 
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with Article 96 of the Articles, any Director appointed 
either to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting 
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election, but shall not be taken into account in determining the number of 
Directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting. Accordingly, Mr. Bao Yueqing and Ms. Zhang Li shall retire at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting.

The Company has received written confirmations from each of the independent non-executive Directors for their annual 
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has assessed their independence 
and concluded that all independent non-executive Directors are considered to be independent within the definition of the GEM 
Listing Rules.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Rule 17.50A (1) of the GEM Listing Rules, there are changes in the information required to be disclosed pursuant to 
paragraph (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules during the course of the directors’ term of office. With 
effect from 1 September 2016, Ms. Han Liqun’s and Ms. Zhang Li’s remuneration were revised to HK$100,000 per year. With 
effect from 1 January 2017, Mr. He Chenguang’s and Mr. Bao Yueqing’s remuneration were revised to HK$165,000 and 
HK$115,000 per month respectively. The remuneration was determined based on their qualifications, experience, level of 
responsibilities and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Yip Tai Him ceased to be the independent non-executive director of Vinco Financial Group Limited (stock code: 8340) with 
effect from 1 August 2016. With effect from 8 November 2016, Mr. Yip has been appointed as an independent non-executive 
director of the New Wisdom Holding Company Limited (formerly known as Epicurean and Company Limited) (stock code: 
8213).

Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters that need to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A (1) of the GEM Listing 
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company. The employment of each executive 
Directors under their respective service contract shall be continuous subject to termination by either party to the contract 
serving written notice to the other to terminate such employment to take effect three months from the date of service of such 
notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a 
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiary companies which is not determinable by the Group within one year 
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Details of the directors’ emoluments and those of the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31 March 
2017 are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received the annual independence confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors 
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive directors to be 
independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Apart from the Directors’ interests in contracts as disclosed in the section headed “Details of the continuing connected 
transactions of the Group” below, no Directors had a significant beneficial interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any 
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiary companies were a party at 
the end of the year ended 31 March 2017 or any time during the year ended 31 March 2017.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on page 10 to 12.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 March 2017, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares 
and underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of 
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) which (a) were required to be notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including 
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required 
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange, pursuant to the rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Number of shares held
 

Name of Director
Personal
interests

Corporate
interests Total

Approximate
percentage of

issued
share capital

Share
options held

      

He Chenguang – – – – 2,000,000
Bao Yueqing 2,844,000 – 2,844,000 0.17% 5,000,000

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executives has any interests or short positions in the shares and 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) 
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions 
of the SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred therein; or (c) were 
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, pursuant to the rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as 
at 31 March 2017.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 March 2017, so far as is known to, or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiry by, the Directors, the following 
persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) had an interest or short position in the shares or 
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of 
Part XV of the SFO and Section 336 of the SFO or, who were or were expected, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more 
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member 
of the Group:

Number of shares held
 

Name of shareholder
Personal
interests

Corporate
interests

Other
interests Total

Approximate
percentage of

issued
share capital

      

CCC (Note 1) – 472,042,000 – 472,042,000 28.51%
CCI 472,042,000 – – 472,042,000 28.51%
Yang Shao Hui 209,032,256 – – 209,032,256 12.62%
Friendly Capital Limited 109,900,000 – – 109,900,000 6.63%
Li Chungang (Note 2) – 109,900,000 – 109,900,000 6.63%

Notes:

(1)	 CCC is deemed to be substantial shareholder as defined in the GEM Listing Rules. CCI is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CCC.

(2)	 Friendly Capital Limited is wholly-owned by Li Chungang and is therefore deemed to be interested in 109,900,000 shares held by 
Friendly Capital Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, so far as is known to, or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiry by the 
Directors, no other person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company) had an interest or short position in the 
shares or underlying shares of the Company which requires to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and Section 336 of the SFO or, who were or were expected, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% 
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any 
member of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, the Directors and other officers, for the time being acting in relation to 
the affairs of the Company, shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or 
sustained by him/her as a Director or other officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in 
which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the 
Group to protect the Directors and officers of the Group against any potential liability arising from the Group’s activities which 
such Directors and officers may be held liable.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No substantial contracts concerning the management and administration of the Company were entered into or existed during 
the reporting year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the events after the reporting period are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentage of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as follows:

2017
  

Purchases
— the largest supplier 62%
— five largest suppliers 79%

Sales
— the largest customer 34%
— five largest customers 34%

Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, none of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder 
of the Company (which to the best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had 
any beneficial interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

The Group understands that customers and suppliers are important to the sustainable and stable development of its business. 
The Group seeks to work with its suppliers in pursuit of continuous improvement in social and environmental performance. The 
Group is also committed to ensuring that environmental considerations are an integral part of its operation through cooperation 
with its suppliers to provide high-quality services to its customers. The Group conducts assessment process from time to time 
to evaluate the performance of its suppliers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Relationship between the Group and each of the relevant connected persons
CCC, a company established under the laws of the PRC. By virtue of its interests as to approximately 28.51% of the issued 
share capital of the Company held by CCI, its wholly-owned subsidiary, which is holding 472,042,000 shares of the Company, 
CCC is considered to be a connected person to the Company. Mr. He Chenguang, the chairman of the Company and an 
executive Director, was also the legal representative of CCC and is therefore considered to be interested in the transactions.

神州通信黑龍江有限公司 (China Communication Heilongjiang Co., Ltd.#) (“China Communication Heilongjiang”) and 哈爾濱神州
通信技能培訓有限公司 (Harbin China Communication Skill Training Co., Ltd.#) (“Harbin China Communication Skill Training”), 
each a company established in the PRC with limited liability, are wholly-owned subsidiaries of CCC and therefore connected 
persons of the Company. 神州通信黑龍江有限公司賓縣分公司 (China Communication Heilongjiang Co., Ltd. Bin County Branch 
Company#) (“China Communication Heilongjiang Bin County Branch”) is a branch company of China Communication 
Heilongjiang.

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the Group
Pursuant to Rule 20.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, details of the continuing connected transactions during the year ended 31 
March 2017 which the Company undertakes the transactions under the written agreements are set out as follows:

1.	 On 9 March 2015, CCC and Yijia entered into the third customers service hotline rental agreement, pursuant to which 
CCC shall provide a designated national customer service hotline number 95130*** to Yijia, in consideration of which 
CCC would charge Yijia (i) an annual fee of RMB20,000; (ii) a calling charge of RMB0.06 per 6 seconds for long distance 
incoming calls (subject to scaled-discount rates); and (iii) a calling charge of RMB0.15 per minute for outgoing calls via 
internet through the “VolP” (Voice-Over Internet Protocol) telephone system, representing a discount of 50% to the 
nationwide standard rate in the PRC. The calling charge rate was subject to adjustment in accordance with any new 
charging standard to be announced by the PRC government from time to time;

#	 English name is for identification purpose only
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2.	 On 9 March 2015, CCC and Yijia entered into the third server hosting agreement, pursuant to which (i) Yijia would place 
its servers in CCC’s server rooms and CCC would provide monitoring, management and technical support services to Yijia 
and (ii) CCC would provide designated 300M-bandwidth share of the broadband leased line to Yijia for the operation of its 
website and CCC will also provide 90 IP addresses and not more than ten (10) racks of servers for the use of Yijia and 
supply 2200W (10A) electricity for each rack of servers rented to Yijia, in consideration of which CCC would charge Yijia 
an annual rental fee of not more than RMB8.4 million;

3.	 On 9 March 2015, CCC and Yijia entered into the third service agreement, pursuant to which Yijia would provide to CCC 
services regarding (i) the management and sale of the Designated Shentong Card; (ii) assistance in the after-sale-services 
for the Designated Shentong Card; and (iii) following-up with the enquiries and/or complaints raised by the users of the 
Designated Shentong Card; and (iv) customer management service, and promotion and marketing of the Designated 
Shentong Card, in consideration of which Yijia would charge CCC (i) issuance handling fees of RMB5 for each Designated 
Shentong Card issued by Yijia; (ii) technical service commission of 20% of the total value of purchases made by the users 
through the Designated Shentong Card issued by Yijia; (iii) sale commission of RMB3 for the insurance products 
preloaded in the Designated Shentong Card issued by Yijia; and (iv) sale commission of 20% of the total value of 
purchases made by the users through the designated “Shentong Card” issued by Yijia for the property and life insurance 
products and 10% for the purchases of health insurance products;

4.	 On 9 March 2015, CCC and Yijia entered into the third web advertising agreement, pursuant to which Yijia agreed to place 
and CCC agreed to arrange for the web advertisements of Yijia to be published on the website of CCC “Shentong Net”, 
and 24-hour technical support services should also be provided by CCC to Yijia to handle all technical issues arising out of 
the publication of the advertisements. The amount of advertising fees to be incurred by Yijia during the term of such web 
advertising agreement should not be made more than RMB5 million for the period commencing on the Effective Date 
until 31 March 2016 and RMB5 million for each of the two years ending 31 March 2018 and details of the advertising 
arrangement and the payment methods should be determined based on mutual agreement of Yijia and CCC to be 
reached at least three days prior to the publication of the relevant advertisements;

5.	 On 1 January 2013, CCC and Heilongjiang Shentong entered into the customer service hotline rental contract, pursuant to 
which CCC shall provide a designated national customer service hotline number 95130*** to Heilongjiang Shentong, in 
consideration of which CCC will charge Heilongjiang Shentong (i) an annual fee of RMB20,000 which is on a pro-rata on a 
12-month year basis; (ii) a calling charge of RMB0.06 per 6 seconds for long distance incoming calls (subject to the 
scaled-discount rates); and (iii) a calling charge of RMB0.15 per minute for outgoing calls via internet through the “VoIP” 
(Voice-Over Internet Protocol) telephone system, representing a discount of 50% to the nationwide standard rate in the 
PRC. The calling charges are subject to adjustment in accordance with any new charging standard to be announced by 
the PRC government from time to time;

6.	 On 1 January 2013, CCC and Heilongjiang Shentong entered into the server hosting agreement, pursuant to which (i) 
CCC will provide server equipment to Heilongjiang Shentong, and Heilongjiang Shentong will place its servers in CCC’s 
server rooms and CCC will provide monitoring, management and technical support services to Heilongjiang Shentong and 
(ii) CCC will provide designated 300M bandwidth share of the broadband leased lines to Heilongjiang Shentong for the 
operation of its website. CCC will also provide 90 IP addresses and not more than ten racks of servers for the use of 
Heilongjiang Shentong, in consideration of which CCC will charge Heilongjiang Shentong a fee of RMB80,000 per month 
for each server used by Heilongjiang Shentong for the provision of server hosting service and dedicated leased-lines;

7.	 On 1 March 2013, China Communication Heilongjiang and Heilongjiang Shentong entered into the web advertising 
contract (Heilongjiang Shentong), pursuant to which Heilongjiang Shentong agreed to place and China Communication 
Heilongjiang agreed to arrange for the web advertisements of Heilongjiang Shentong be published on the internet. 24-
hour technical support services shall also be provided by China Communication Heilongjiang to Heilongjiang Shentong to 
handle all technical issues arising out the publication of the advertisements. In consideration of which China 
Communication Heilongjiang will charge Heilongjiang Shentong a fee of RMB5,000–8,000 per 3 or 4 hours with a discount 
of 35%.
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8.	 On 1 April 2014, China Communication Heilongjiang and 大慶市神通文化俱樂部有限公司 (Daqing Shentong Cultural Club 
Co., Ltd.#) (“Daqing Shentong”) entered into the web advertising contract (Daqing Shentong), pursuant to which Daqing 
Shentong agreed to place and China Communication Heilongjiang agreed to arrange for the web advertisements of 
Daqing Shentong be published on the internet. 24-hour technical support services shall also be provided by China 
Communication Heilongjiang to Daqing Shentong to handle all technical issues arising out the publication of the 
advertisements. In consideration of which China Communication Heilongjiang will charge Daqing Shentong a fee of 
RMB5,000–8,000 per 3 or 4 hours with a discount of 35%;

9.	 On 1 January 2013, CCC and Heilongjiang Shentong entered into the Heilongjiang Shentong CRC Shentong Card payment 
system contract, pursuant to which CCC shall provide Heilongjiang Shentong the right to use the CRC Shentong Card 
integrated payment management system to facilitate customer’s information maintenance, customer enquiry services 
and payment processing services, in consideration of which Heilongjiang Shentong shall be responsible for the payment 
of a fee which is 6% of its overall income (including income from training and competitions) which payment is made 
through and processed by the CRC Shentong Card integrated payment management system to CCC;

10.	 On 1 June 2014, CCC and Daqing Shentong entered into the Daqing Shentong CRC Shentong Card payment system 
contract, pursuant to which CCC shall provide Daqing Shentong the right to use the CRC Shentong Card integrated 
payment management system to facilitate customer’s information maintenance, customer enquiry services and payment 
processing services, in consideration of which Daqing Shentong shall be responsible for the payment of a fee which is 6% 
of its overall income (including income from training and competitions) which payment is made through and processed by 
the CRC Shentong Card integrated payment management system to CCC;

11.	 On 1 January 2013, China Communication Heilongjiang and Heilongjiang Shentong entered into the website maintenance 
contract, pursuant to which China Communication Heilongjiang has designated a team of not less than 20 IT technicians 
to provide website production and maintenance service in the PC, Android and iOS platform for the website of the 
Heilongjiang Shentong, in consideration of which China Communication Heilongjiang charges Heilolngjiang Shentong a 
monthly fee of RMB0.45 million;

12.	 On 1 March 2013, Harbin China Communication Skill Training and Heilongjiang Shentong entered into the Harbin China 
Communication Skill Training venue rental agreement, pursuant to which provision of venue, cleaning services and 
electricity from Harbin China Communication Skill Training to Heilongjiang Shentong for holding conference or training, in 
consideration of which Harbin China Communication Skill Training charges Heilongjiang Shentong (i) accommodation 
charge at daily rate ranging from RMB318 to RMB1,888 with a discount of 20% to 50% according to different type of 
room and level of management authority respectively; (ii) conference room leasing fee ranging from RMB1,800 to 
RMB5,000 for every four hours with a discount of 20% to 50% according to different level of management authority; (iii) 
food and beverage and supportive services will be charged on actual usage based on a pre-determined services fee; and

13.	 On 1 March 2013, China Communication Heilongjiang Bin County Branch and Heilongjiang Shentong entered into the 
China Communication Heilongjiang Bin County Branch venue rental contract, pursuant to which provision of venue from 
China Communication Heilongjiang Bin County Branch to Heilongjiang Shentong for holding of competition, in 
consideration of which China Communication Heilongjiang Bin County Branch charges Heilongjiang Shentong rental at a 
rate of RMB25,000 per hour.

The aforesaid agreements have been reviewed by independent non-executive Directors of the Company who have confirmed 
that for the year ended 31 March 2017, the above agreements have been entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of 
business of the Group; (b) on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from independent third parties, 
and (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of 
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

#	 English name is for identification purpose only
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Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company has confirmed to us that, in respect of the above-mentioned 
continuing connected transactions: (a) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the 
transactions have not been approved by the Company’s Board of Directors; (b) nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that 
causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of 
the Group; (c) nothing has come to the attention of the auditor’s attention that causes the auditor to believe that the 
transactions were not entered into, in all material aspects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such 
transactions; and (d) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the transactions, nothing has come to the auditor’s 
attention that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions have exceeded the annual cap disclosed in the circular of the 
Company dated 24 March 2015 and 31 December 2015.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval 
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules during the reporting year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2017, save as the continuing connected transactions mentioned on page 33 and 35 and related 
party transactions disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had not entered into other significant 
transactions with related parties. No transactions have been entered into with the Directors (being the key management 
personnel) during the year other than the emoluments paid to them as disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
A management discussion and analysis of the Group’s annual results is shown on pages 7 to 9.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
A corporate governance report is shown on pages 13 to 19.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee of the Company comprises three independent non-executive Directors. The audit committee has reviewed 
the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group and the Company’s audited results for the year ended 31 March 
2017 and discussed with the management regarding auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Directors and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed 
that there is sufficient public float, representing more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the latest practicable date 
prior to the issue of this report.

COMPETING INTERESTS
None of the Directors of the Company nor their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any business or 
interest in a business which competes or may compete with the businesses of the Group.

OTHER MATTERS
(a)	 The company secretary and the qualified accountant of the Company is Mr. Yiu King Ming, CPA.

(b)	 The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. Bao Yueqing appointed pursuant to Rule 5.19 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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AUDITORS
At the Company’s last annual general meeting, RSM Hong Kong was re-appointed as auditor of the Company.

RSM Hong Kong will retire and being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of RSM Hong 
Kong as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

There has been no change in auditors of the Company in the three years ended 31 March 2017.

By Order of the Board
He Chenguang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 June 2017
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SHENTONG ROBOT EDUCATION GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS “CHINA COMMUNICATION TELECOM SERVICES COMPANY LIMITED”)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shentong Robot Education Group Company Limited (formerly known 
as “China Communication Telecom Services Company Limited”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 86, 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 
as at 31 March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN
We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that, as at 31 March 2017, the Group had 
net current liabilities of approximately HK$227,207,000 and this condition indicates the existence of a material uncertainty 
which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect 
of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. The key audit matter we identified is impairment assessment on goodwill and intangible assets attributable to 
the “Robotics Training Course and Others Cash Generating Unit”

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
  

Impairment assessment on goodwill and intangible 
assets attributable to the “Robotics Training Course and 
Others Cash Generating Unit”

Refer to Notes 5(b), 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial 
statements and the accounting policies 4(b), 4(e) and 4(u)

The Group’s Robotics Training Course and Others Cash 
Generating Unit (“CGU”) has goodwill and intangible assets 
w i t h  c a r r y i n g  a m o u n t s  o f  H K $ 3 6 , 3 0 2 , 0 0 0  a n d 
HK$371,929,000 respectively. Goodwill together with 
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are required to 
be tested for impairment on an annual basis with reference 
to the CGU recoverable amount.

In performing the impairment assessment, the recoverable 
amount of the CGU was determined on the basis of a value 
in use model that required signif icant management 
judgement in making assumptions about budgeted revenue, 
profit margins, growth rates and in selecting an appropriate 
market discount rate.

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment 
assessment included:

—	 Eva luat ing the independent  externa l  va luer ’s 
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

—	 Assessing the integrity of the value in use model;

—	 Challenging the reasonableness of management’s key 
assumptions based on our knowledge of the business 
and industry;

—	 Reconciling input data to supporting evidence, including 
approved budgets and considering the historical 
accuracy of these budgets; and

—	 Assessing the appropriateness of the discount rate used 
with the assistance of our internal valuation specialist.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information comprises all the information in the Company’s 
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the Other Information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report 
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to 
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.
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•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chris Wong Wo Cheung.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

16 June 2017
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 7 91,507 34,684
Cost of sales (35,967) (11,020)
    

Gross profit 55,540 23,664

Other income 8 1,655 52
Selling and distribution expenses (13,636) (14,684)
Administrative expenses (29,702) (25,968)
Other operating expenses (456) –
    

Profit/(loss) from operations 13,401 (16,936)
Finance costs 10 (1,894) (1,884)
    

Profit/(loss) before tax 11,507 (18,820)
Income tax expense 11 (7,661) (1,550)
    

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of the Company 12 3,846 (20,370)
    

HK cent HK cent

Earnings/(loss) per share

Basic (cents per share) 16(a) 0.24 (1.57)
    

Diluted (cents per share) 16(b) N/A N/A
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2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit/(loss) for the year 3,846 (20,370)

Other comprehensive income
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (20,354) (1,237)
   

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the Company (16,508) (21,607)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
AT 31 MARCH 2017

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 17 5,416 933
Goodwill 18 36,302 –
Intangible assets 19 371,929 –
    

Total non-current assets 413,647 933
    

Current assets
Inventories 21 54 –
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 32,582 21,847
Bank and cash balances 23 92,525 17,961
    

Total current assets 125,161 39,808
    

TOTAL ASSETS 538,808 40,741
    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital 28 16,557 12,947
Reserves 30 74,869 (88,779)
    

Total equity 91,426 (75,832)
    

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Promissory note 26 – 101,949
Deferred tax liabilities 27 95,014 –
    

Total non-current liabilities 95,014 101,949
    

Current liabilities
Training course obligation 25 21,581 –
Receipt in advance 129 –
Accruals and other payables 24 209,590 2,003
Promissory note 26 103,843 –
Current tax liabilities 17,225 12,621
    

Total current liabilities 352,368 14,624
    

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 538,808 40,741
    

Approved by the Board of Directors on 16 June 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

He Chenguang Bao Yueqing
Director Director
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Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Merger 

reserve

Foreign

 currency 

translation

 reserve

Statutory 

reserve

Share-based

 payment

 reserve

Accumulated 

losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
         

At 1 April 2015 12,947 1,072,549 8,320 1,880 – – (1,149,921) (54,225)

Transfer – – – – 625 – (625) –

Total comprehensive income 
  for the year – – – (1,237) – – (20,370) (21,607)
         

Changes in equity for the year – – – (1,237) 625 – (20,995) (21,607)
         

At 31 March 2016 12,947 1,072,549 8,320 643 625 – (1,170,916) (75,832)
         

At 1 April 2016 12,947 1,072,549 8,320 643 625 – (1,170,916) (75,832)

Shares issued upon subscription 
  (note 28) 3,610 176,840 – – – – – 180,450

Share-based payments (note 31) – – – – – 3,316 – 3,316

Total comprehensive income 
  for the year – – – (20,354) – – 3,846 (16,508)
         

Changes in equity for the year 3,610 176,840 – (20,354) – 3,316 3,846 167,258
         

At 31 March 2017 16,557 1,249,389 8,320 (19,711) 625 3,316 (1,167,070) 91,426
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2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit/(Loss) before tax 11,507 (18,820)

Adjustments for:
  Share-based payments (note 31) 3,316 –
  Amortisation of intangible assets – 2,104
  Depreciation 3,427 771
  Finance costs (note 10) 1,894 1,884
  Written off of property, plant and equipment 90 –
  Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 364 –
  Interest income (89) (51)
   

Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes 20,509 (14,112)
  Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 65,949 (9,483)
  Decrease in accruals and other payables (4,212) (527)
  Increase in training course obligation 2,549 –
  Increase in receipt in advance 117 –
  Increase in inventories (10) –
   

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 84,902 (24,122)
Income tax paid (5,766) (1,568)
   

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 79,136 (25,690)
   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 32) (28,763) –
Settlement of amount due to a substantial shareholder related to Exclusive Rights (149,900) –
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 195 –
Interest received 89 51
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,869) (200)
   

Net cash used in investing activities (180,248) (149)
   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net proceeds from subscription of shares (note 28) 180,450 –
   

Net cash generated from financing activities 180,450 –
   

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 79,338 (25,839)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (4,774) (1,367)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 17,961 45,167
   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 92,525 17,961
   

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank and cash balances 92,525 17,961
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under the 
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand 
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Units 2115–2116, 
21/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168–200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares 
are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company changed its English name from “China Communication Telecom Services Company Limited” to “Shentong 
Robot Education Group Company Limited”, and the Chinese name was changed from “神通電信服務有限公司” to “神通
機器人教育集團有限公司”. These changes have been effective since 5 August 2016. The Certificate of Incorporation on 
Change of Name certifying the registration of change of English name of the Company issued by the Registry of 
Companies in the Cayman Islands was issued on 9 August 2016, and the Certificate of Registration of Alteration of Name 
of Registered Non-Hong Kong Company certifying the new name of the Company under Part 16 of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622) was issued on 1 September 2016.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 20 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). 
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and 
Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of the Stock Exchange and with 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted 
by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for the 
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from 
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior 
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$227,207,000 as at 31 March 2017. This condition indicates the 
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and, therefore, it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Nevertheless, the directors had adopted the going concern basis in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements of the Group based on the following:

(a)	 On 15 November 2016, the Group agreed with China Communication Investment Limited (“CCI”), a substantial 
shareholder of the Company, to postpone the repayment date to 15 November 2017 for an amount of 
HK$200,100,000 due to CCI and the directors expect that the repayment date will be further postponed 
successfully.

(b)	 On 31 May 2017, the Group agreed with CCI to postpone the maturity date of the promissory note to 30 June 
2018.

(c)	 The directors have obtained the confirmation from 神州通信集團有限公司 (China Communication Group Co., Ltd.#) 
(“CCC”), the holding company of CCI and regarded as the substantial shareholder of the Company, that CCC will 
continue to provide adequate funds for the Group to meet its present and future financial obligations as they fall 
due, and to cause CCI to postpone the repayment dates of any present and future liabilities due to CCI by the 
Group when necessary.

#	 English name is for identification purpose only
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2.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Having regard to the financial support of CCC and CCI, at a level sufficient to finance the working capital requirements of 
the Group, the directors are therefore of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements 
on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be 
made to the consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to 
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and 
liabilities, respectively.

3.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(a)	 Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 April 2016. None of these developments have had a material effect on how the Group’s results and 
financial position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented.

(b)	 New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective for the 
financial year beginning 1 April 2016. These new and revised HKFRSs include the following which may be relevant 
to the Group.

Effective 
for accounting 

periods 
beginning
on or after

  

Amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure initiative 1 January 2017

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of deferred tax assets 
  for unrealised losses

1 January 2017

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Classification and measurement 
  of share-based payment transactions

1 January 2018

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle 1 January 2018

HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments and new standards 
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far the Group has identified some aspects of the new 
standards which may have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. Further details of the 
expected impacts are discussed below. As the Group has not completed its assessment, further impacts may be 
identified in due course.
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3.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(CONTINUED)
(b)	 New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The standard replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

The standard introduces a new approach to the classification of financial assets which is based on cash flow 
characteristics and the business model in which the asset is held. A debt instrument that is held within a business 
model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows and that has contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding is measured at amortised cost. A debt instrument 
that is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting the contractual cash flows and 
selling the instruments and that has contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal outstanding is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. All other debt instruments are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Equity instruments are generally measured at fair value through profit 
or loss. However, an entity may make an irrevocable election on an instrument-by-instrument basis to measure 
equity instruments that are not held for trading at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities are carried forward largely unchanged 
from HKAS 39 except that when the fair value option is applied changes in fair value attributable to changes in own 
credit risk are recognised in other comprehensive income unless this creates an accounting mismatch.

HKFRS 9 introduces a new expected-loss impairment model to replace the incurred-loss impairment model in HKAS 
39. It is no longer necessary for a credit event or impairment trigger to have occurred before impairment losses are 
recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, an 
entity will generally recognise 12-month expected credit losses. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, an entity will recognise lifetime expected credit losses. The standard includes a simplified 
approach for trade receivables to always recognise the lifetime expected credit losses.

The de-recognition requirements in HKAS 39 are carried forward largely unchanged.

The new expected credit loss impairment model in HKFRS 9 may result in the earlier recognition of impairment 
losses on the Group’s trade receivables and other financial assets. The Group is unable to quantity the impact until 
a more detailed assessment is completed.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
HKFRS 15 replaces all existing revenue standards and interpretations.

The core principle of the standard is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of goods and services 
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to become entitled in 
exchange for those goods and services.
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3.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(CONTINUED)
(b)	 New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)
An entity recognises revenue in accordance with the core principle by applying a 5-step model:

1.	 Identify the contract with a customer

2.	 Identify the performance obligations in the contract

3.	 Determine the transaction price

4.	 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

5.	 Recognise revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation

The standard also includes comprehensive disclosure requirements relating to revenue.

The Group is currently assessing the impacts of adopting HKFRS 15 on the consolidated financial statements but 
unable to estimate the impact of the new standard on the consolidated financial statements until a more detailed 
analysis is completed.

HKFRS 16 Leases
HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The new standard introduces a single accounting 
model for lessees. For lessees the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed and lessees will 
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases (with optional exemptions for short-term leases and 
leases of low value assets). HKFRS 16 carries forward the accounting requirements for lessors in HKAS 17 
substantially unchanged. Lessors will therefore continue to classify leases as operating or financing leases.

The Group’s office property leases are currently classified as operating leases and the lease payments (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Under HKFRS 16 the Group may need to recognise and measure a liability at the present value of the future 
minimum lease payments and recognise a corresponding right-of-use asset for these leases. The interest expense 
on the lease liability and depreciation on the right-of-use asset will be recognised in profit or loss. The Group’s 
assets and liabilities will increase and the timing of expense recognition will also be impacted as a result.

As disclosed in note 35, the Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for its 
office properties amounted to HK$12,954,000 as at 31 March 2017. The Group will need to perform a more detailed 
assessment in order to determine the new assets and liabilities arising from these operating leases commitments 
after taking into account the transition reliefs available in HKFRS 16 and the effects of discounting.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a)	 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made 
up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing rights 
that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s 
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by 
other parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise the right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated 
from the date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment 
loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for 
sale).
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b)	 Business combination (other than under common control) and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The 
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets 
given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are 
recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable 
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is recognised in 
consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at 
its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated profit or loss. The fair value 
is added to the sum of the consideration transferred in a business combination to calculate the goodwill.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating units 
(“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group 
of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is 
monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU 
containing the goodwill is compared to its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value 
less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

(c)	 Foreign currency translation
(i)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency.

(ii)	 Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial recognition using the 
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are 
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this 
translation policy are recognised in of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange 
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange 
component of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in 
profit or loss.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(c)	 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii)	 Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the 
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

—	 Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate 
at the date of that statement of financial position;

—	 Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period (unless this average is 
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, 
in which case income and expenses are translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

—	 All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of monetary items that form part of the 
net investment in foreign entities are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are 
reclassified to the consolidated profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

(d)	 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the 
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their 
residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Computer equipment 33% – 50%
Leasehold improvement Shorter of unexpired lease period and useful lives
Equipments, furniture and fixtures 20% – 331/3%
Motor vehicles 18% – 25%
Training equipments 331/3%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(e)	 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill where 
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset.

Intangible assets assessed to have indefinite useful lives are not amortised. Any conclusion that the useful life of an 
intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine whether events and circumstances continue to 
support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment 
from indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively from the date of change and amortisation is charged to profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated remaining useful life.

Impairment reviews of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are undertaken annually, or more frequently if 
events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.

(f)	 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out 
basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(g)	 Operating leases (the Group as lessee)
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are 
accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are recognised 
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(h)	 Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the 
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the 
assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of 
the consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid is recognised in profit or loss.

(i)	 Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an financial 
asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial assets within the timeframe established by 
the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in 
the case of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. These assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method (except for 
short-term receivables where interest is immaterial) minus any reduction for impairment or uncollectibility. Typically 
other receivables, bank and cash balances are classified in this category.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(j)	 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary 
course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal 
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.

(k)	 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and 
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments 
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

(l)	 Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument 
is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The 
accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

(m)	 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(n)	 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are 
stated at cost.

(o)	 Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(p)	 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Competition admission fee income is recognised when the service is rendered.

Training course income is recognised when the service is rendered.

Rental income of training equipments is recognised upon provision of rental service.

Promotion and management services income includes issuance handling fees and sales commission which is 
recognised when each electronic smart card “Designated Shentong Card” is activated. Technical services 
commission is recognised when expenditures of Designated Shentong Card are made by users.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

All revenue are net of value-added tax and other sales levy.

(q)	 Employee benefits
(i)	 Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to 
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a result 
of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii)	 Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all eligible 
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of 
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents 
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii)	 Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the 
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the payment of 
termination benefits.

(r)	 Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees and others providing similar services. 
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market based vesting 
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s 
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(s)	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised 
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or 
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the 
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the 
borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the 
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(t)	 Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit 
or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences, 
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(t)	 Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

(u)	 Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date for indications of impairment and 
where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through the consolidated statement of profit or loss to 
its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset 
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. If this 
is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable 
amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-
generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present 
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata 
amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused by 
changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the impairment.

(v)	 Impairment of financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether its financial assets (other than those at fair value 
through profit or loss) are impaired, based on objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition, the estimated future cash flows of the (group of) financial asset(s) have been 
affected.

The carrying amount of financial assets is directly reduced by the impairment loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if the amount of the impairment loss decreases in a subsequent 
period and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed (either directly or by adjusting the allowance account for trade 
receivables) through profit or loss. However, the reversal must not result in a carrying amount that exceeds what 
the amortised cost of the financial asset would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the 
impairment is reversed.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(w)	 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, 
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated 
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible 
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future 
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(x)	 Events after the reporting period
Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the end of the 
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events 
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.

5.	 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have made the following judgement that has the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving 
estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a)	 Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which 
depends upon the financial support of the substantial shareholders at a level sufficient to finance the working 
capital requirements of the Group. Details are explained in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b)	 Exclusive Rights assessed to have indefinite useful lives
The Group regarded and assessed the Exclusive Rights to have indefinite useful lives as at date of acquisition and 
at end of reporting period. Accounting policy of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives is set out in note 4(e) to 
the consolidated financial statements. Details of the Exclusive Rights and the reasons for the Group’s assessment 
are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)	 Useful lives and depreciation of property, plant and equipment
The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for the Group’s 
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives and 
residual values of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the 
depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values are different to those previously estimated, or it will 
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2017 was HK$5,416,000 (2016: HK$933,000).



SHENTONG ROBOT EDUCATION GROUP COMPANY LIMITED60

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

5.	 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(b)	 Robotics training and others CGU impairment assessment

The Group’s Robotics Training and Others Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) has goodwill and intangible assets (i.e. 
Exclusive Rights). These relate to the Group’s acquisition of Robotics Training and Others operations which 
management is required to assess for impairment. The impairment assessment involve the value in use of CGU, 
which requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount 
rate in order to calculate the present value.

The carrying amount of goodwill and Exclusive Rights at end of the reporting period were HK$36,302,000 and 
HK$371,929,000 respectively.

(c)	 Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in determining the 
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from 
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in 
the period in which such determination is made. During the year, HK$7,661,000 (2016: HK$1,550,000) of income 
tax was charged in profit or loss based on the estimated profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC.

6.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest 
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)	 Foreign currency risk
The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities 
are principally denominated in the functional currencies of the principal operation entities of the Group. The Group 
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and 
liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign 
currency exposure should the need arise.

(b)	 Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to other receivables and bank and cash balances. In order to 
minimise credit risk, the directors have delegated a team to be responsible for the determination of credit limits, 
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures. In addition, the directors review the recoverable amount of each 
individual receivable regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable debts. In 
this regard, the directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has certain concentrations of credit risk in the amount due from a substantial shareholder and amounts 
due from related companies, which is closely monitored by the directors.

The credit risk on bank and cash balances is limited because the counterparties are banks which high credit-ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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6.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(c)	 Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains 
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities 
is as follows:

Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 and 2 years Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 31 March 2017
Accruals and other payables 209,590 – 209,590
Promissory note 106,209 – 106,209

At 31 March 2016
Accruals and other payables 2,003 – 2,003
Promissory note – 104,320 104,320

As described in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has reached an agreement with CCI to 
postpone the maturity date of promissory note to 30 June 2018. Furthermore, the Group agreed with CCI to 
postpone the repayment date to 15 November 2017 for an amount of HK$200,100,000 due to them, and directors 
expect to further postpone the repayment date successfully. The directors are of the view that these would be 
adequate to maintain the liquidity risk to an acceptable level.

(d)	 Interest rate risk
The Group has minimal exposure to interest rate risk as the changes in market interest rates have insignificant 
effect on the Group’s operating cash flow.

The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from promissory note, which is at fixed rate and will expose the Group to fair 
value interest-rate risk.

(e)	 Categories of financial instruments at 31 March:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets:
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)
  — Deposits and other receivables 28,965 21,322
  — Bank and cash balances 92,525 17,961

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
  — Accruals and other payables 209,590 2,003
  — Promissory note 103,843 101,949
   

(f)	 Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated 
statement of financial position approximate their respective fair values.



SHENTONG ROBOT EDUCATION GROUP COMPANY LIMITED62

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

7.	 REVENUE

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Promotion and management services income from CCC 31,457 34,684
Robotics training course and others 60,050 –
   

91,507 34,684
   

8.	 OTHER INCOME

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Exchange gain 90 –
Interest income 89 51
Sundry income 12 1
Gain on waiver of other payables 1,464 –
   

1,655 52
   

9.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group has the following operating segments:

Promotion and management services – Provision of promotion and management services for an electronic smart 
card “Designated Shentong Card” in the PRC

Robotics training course and others – Organising and hosting of China Robot Competition (“CRC”) and provision 
of CRC training course in Heilongjiang Province in the PRC.

A new operating segment, Robotics Training Course and Others was formed during the year.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services. They are 
managed separately because each business requires different technology and marketing strategies. Each of the above 
operating segments corresponds to related subsidiaries engaging in the respective segment activities.

The accounting policies of the operating segment are the same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial 
statements. Segment profits or losses do not include finance costs, income tax expense and unallocated corporate 
expenses. Segment assets include all non-current assets and current assets with the exception of corporate assets. 
Segment liabilities include all non-current liabilities and current liabilities with the exception of current tax liabilities, 
deferred tax liabilities and corporate liabilities.
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9.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Information about operating segments’ profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

2017 2016
  

Promotion and 
management 

services

Robotics training 
course and 

others Total

Promotion and 
management 

services
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Year ended 31 March

Revenue from external customer
  (including related companies) 31,457 60,050 91,507 34,684

Segment profit 5,844 28,598 34,442 3,259

Interest income 61 27 88 50

Depreciation and amortisation 553 2,856 3,409 2,864

Gain on waiver of other payables (note 8) – 1,464 1,464 –

Additions to segment non-current assets

— Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 32) – 435,767 435,767 –

— Purchase of property, plant and equipment 1,043 818 1,861 165

1,043 436,585 437,628 165

As at 31 March

Segment assets 39,420 498,026 537,446 36,377

Segment liabilities 1,403 229,046 230,449 1,312
  767   
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9.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Reconciliations of segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue
Total revenue of reportable segments 91,507 34,684
   

Consolidated revenue 91,507 34,684
   

Profit or loss
Total profit of reportable segments 34,442 3,259
Finance costs (1,894) (1,884)
Income tax expense (7,661) (1,550)
Unallocated amounts:
  Consultancy fee (650) –
  Directors’ emoluments and allowances (note 14(a)) (5,174) (3,546)
  Legal and professional fee (3,151) (8,233)
  Rent (2,401) (2,280)
  Salaries and share-based payments (6,167) (2,995)
  Other unallocated head office and corporate expenses (3,498) (3,141)
   

Consolidated profit/(loss) for the year 3,846 (20,370)
   

Assets
Total assets of reportable segments 537,446 36,377
Elimination of intersegment assets (2,915) –
Unallocated assets:
  Bank and cash balances 3,168 3,550
  Other unallocated head office and corporate assets 1,109 814
   

Consolidated total assets 538,808 40,741
   

Liabilities
Total liabilities of reportable segment 230,449 1,312
Elimination of intersegment assets (2,915) –
Current tax liabilities 17,225 12,621
Deferred tax liabilities 95,014 –
Promissory note 103,843 101,949
Other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities 3,766 691
   

Consolidated total liabilities 447,382 116,573
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9.	 SEGMEN INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information
No separate analysis of segment information by geographical is presented as the Group’s revenue and non-current assets 
are principally attributable to a single geographical region, which is the PRC.

Revenue from major customer

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

CCC — Promotion and management services segment 31,457 34,684
   

10.	 FINANCE COSTS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on promissory note payable to CCI 1,894 1,884
   

11.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current tax — PRC
  Provision for the year 7,966 2,076
  Over-provision in prior year (305) –
Deferred tax (note 27) – (526)
   

7,661 1,550
   

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since the Group has no assessable profit for the years ended 31 March 
2017 and 2016.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of 25% (2016: 25%).
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11.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of profit/(loss) before tax multiplied by the PRC 
Enterprise Income Tax rate is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit/(loss) before tax 11,507 (18,820)
   

Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2016: 25%) 2,876 (4,705)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised (19) (19)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable – (4)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 5,109 6,278
Over-provision in the prior year (305) –
   

Income tax expense 7,661 1,550
   

12.	 PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
The Group’s profit/(loss) for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Auditor’s remuneration

  — audit services 650 538
  — other services 700 2,012

1,350 2,550

Amortisation of intangible assets
  — included in selling and distribution expenses – 2,104

Acquisition related costs 2,469 7,909

Depreciation 3,427 771

Operating lease charges for land and buildings 5,917 4,665

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 364 –

Property, plant and equipment written off 90 –

Gain on waiver of other payables (note 8) (1,464) –
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13.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Employee benefits expenses:
  Salaries, bonuses and allowances 15,792 10,089
  Equity-settled share-based payment 3,316 –
  Retirement benefit scheme contributions 1,212 591
   

20,320 10,680
   

Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included two (2016: two) directors whose emoluments are 
reflected in the analysis presented in note 14. The emoluments of the remaining three (2016: three) individuals are set 
out below:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Basic salaries and allowances 2,742 2,255
Share based payments 1,850 –
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 54 47
   

4,646 2,302
   

The emoluments fell within the following band:

Number of individuals
2017 2016

   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 – 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 – –
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 – –
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 – –
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 –
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14.	 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(a)	 Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of every director is set out below:

Emoluments 
paid or 

receivable in 
respect of

director’s other 
services in

 connection 
with the 

management 
of the affairs of 

the Company or 
its subsidiary 

undertaking Total

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, 
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking 

Fees Salaries

Employer’s 
contribution to

 a retirement 
benefits scheme Others

Share-based 
payments

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
         

Executive directors
He Chenguang – 2,095 18 – 383 – 2,496
Bao Yueqing – 1,383 18 62 957 – 2,420

Independent 
  non-executive 
  directors
Yip Tai Him 100 – – – – – 100
Han Liqun 79 – – – – – 79
Zhang Li 79 – – – – – 79
         

Total for the year ended 
  31 March 2017 258 3,478 36 62 1,340 – 5,174
         

Executive directors
He Chenguang – 1,980 18 – – – 1,998
Bao Yueqing – 1,330 18 – – – 1,348

Independent 
  non-executive 
  directors
Yip Tai Him 100 – – – – – 100
Han Liqun 50 – – – – – 50
Zhang Li 50 – – – – – 50
         

Total for the year ended 
  31 March 2016 200 3,310 36 – – – 3,546
         

None of the directors had waived any emoluments during the year (2016: Nil).

(b)	 Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company 
was a party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s connected party had a material interest, 
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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15.	 DIVIDENDS
No dividends have been paid or proposed during the year, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of reporting 
period (2016: Nil).

16.	 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share is based on the following:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company, used in the basic and 
  diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation 3,846 (20,370)
   

(a)	 Basic earnings/(loss) per share

2017 2016
   

Number of shares
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning of the year 1,294,697,017 1,294,697,017
Effect of subscription of shares 315,504,110 N/A
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
  the purpose of calculating basic earnings/(loss) per share 1,610,201,127 1,294,697,017
   

(b)	 Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
No diluted earnings/(loss) per share was presented as the Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary 
shares for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.
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17.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Computer 
equipment

Leasehold 
improvements

Equipment, 
furniture 

and fixtures
Motor 

vehicles
Training 

equipments Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Cost

At 1 April 2015 5,061 1,560 533 908 – 8,062
Additions 69 – – 131 – 200
Exchange differences (206) (26) (16) (40) – (288)
       

At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 4,924 1,534 517 999 – 7,974
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 32) 244 – 791 427 5,675 7,137
Additions 9 426 3 1,259 172 1,869
Written off – – – – (198) (198)
Disposals – – (253) (838) (913) (2,004)
Exchange differences (303) (43) (75) (129) (517) (1,067)
       

At 31 March 2017 4,874 1,917 983 1,718 4,219 13,711
       

Accumulated depreciation and 
  impairment losses

At 1 April 2015 4,073 1,046 516 868 – 6,503
Charge for the year 554 200 5 12 – 771
Exchange differences (174) (7) (16) (36) – (233)
       

At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 4,453 1,239 505 844 – 7,041
Charge for the year 375 241 166 428 2,217 3,427
Written off – – – – (108) (108)
Disposals – – (163) (812) (470) (1,445)
Exchange differences (274) (22) (43) (82) (199) (620)
       

At 31 March 2017 4,554 1,458 465 378 1,440 8,295
       

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2017 320 459 518 1,340 2,779 5,416
       

At 31 March 2016 471 295 12 155 – 933
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18.	 GOODWILL

Robotics Training 
Course and 

Others CGU
HK$’000

  

Cost

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 32) 38,116
Exchange differences (1,814)
  

At 31 March 2017 36,302
  

Accumulated impairment losses

At acquisition date –
Exchange differences –
  

At 31 March 2017 –
  

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2017 36,302
  

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the CGUs that are expected to benefit from 
that business combination.

The Group acquired 100% equity interest of Copious Link Ventures Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to 
the “Copious Link Group”) on 16 May 2016. The goodwill arising from the acquisition is allocated to Robotics Training 
Course and Others Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”).

The recoverable amounts of the CGU has been determined on the basis of their value in use calculations using discounted 
cash flow method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow method are those regarding the discount rates, 
growth rates and budgeted gross margin and turnover during the period. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-
tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU. The 
growth rates are based on long-term average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which the businesses of 
the CGU operate. Budgeted gross margin and revenue are based on past practices and expectations on market 
development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by the directors for the 
next five years with the residual period using the growth rate of 3%. This rate does not exceed the average long-term 
growth rate for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the Group’s Robotics Training Course and others CGU is 28.4%.
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19.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Distribution 
network

Service 
contract

Exclusive 
Rights Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Cost

At 1 April 2015 73,725 183,289 – 257,014
Exchange differences (3,082) (7,663) – (10,745)
     

At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 70,643 175,626 – 246,269
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 32) – – 390,514 390,514
Exchange differences (4,075) (10,130) (18,585) (32,790)
     

At 31 March 2017 66,568 165,496 371,929 603,993
     

Accumulated amortisation and 
  impairment losses

At 1 April 2015 71,561 183,289 – 254,850
Amortisation for the year 2,104 – – 2,104
Exchange differences (3,022) (7,663) – (10,685)
     

At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 70,643 175,626 – 246,269
Exchange differences (4,075) (10,130) – (14,205)
     

At 31 March 2017 66,568 165,496 – 232,064
     

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2017 – – 371,929 371,929
     

At 31 March 2016 – – – –
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19.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Exclusive Rights represent the rights to use the CRC Shengtong Card payment system, to organise and develop China 
Robot Competition (全國素質體育機器人運動會) (“CRC”) competition events and to provide CRC education and training 
courses in the Heilongjiang Province of the PRC.

Heilongjiang Shentong Cultural Club Company Limited (“Heilongjiang Shentong”), a subsidiary of the Company, was 
authorised by Beijing Shentong Culture Club Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Shentong”), and consented by the Social Sports Direction 
Centre of the General Administration of Sport (國家體育總局社會體育指導中心) and further confirmed by the Heilongjiang 
Province Sports Federation (黑龍江省體育總會) and the Harbin Municipal Sports Federation (哈爾濱市體育總會) to 
organise and develop CRC competition events and to provide CRC education and training courses in Heilongjiang Province 
of the PRC.

Pursuant to CRC Organisation Contract, Beijing Shentong obtained from the Social Sports Direction Centre of the General 
Administration of Sport, among other things, the rights to organise and develop CRC competition events and to provide 
CRC education and training courses at a national level for an initial period from 9 May 2011 to 31 December 2016, upon 
the expiry of which the CRC Organisation Contract would be automatically extended. Each extension shall be for a 
duration of five years if the parties have no objection. The parties intend to form a long-term cooperation relationship, and 
that the CRC Organisation Contract shall remain effective for a long-term.

Pursuant to the Heilongjiang CRC Authorisation Supplemental Agreement, so long as the co-operation period between 
the Social Sports Direction Centre of the General Administration of Sport and Beijing Shentong under the CRC 
Organisation Contract remains effective, the authorisation granted by Beijing Shentong to Heilongjiang Shentong would 
be automatically extended indefinitely unless terminated by Heilongjiang Shentong by written notice.

Pursuant to the CRC Shentong Card Payment System Heilongjiang Province Exclusive Right Authorisation Agreement, 
CCC granted to Heilongjiang Shentong the long-term and exclusive right to use the CRC Shentong Card payment system. 
The CRC Shentong Card Payment System Heilongjiang Province Exclusive Right Authorisation Agreement shall be 
effective and extended indefinitely unless terminated by Heilongjiang Shentong.

Exclusive Rights of the Group are regarded and assessed to have indefinite useful lives as there is no foreseeable limit to 
the period over which these assets are expected to generate cash flows for the Group.
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20.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2017 are as follows:

Name

Place of incorporation/ 
registration and 
operation

Issued and 
paid up capital/
registered 
capital

Percentage of ownership 
interest/ voting power/ 

profit sharing Principal activities
Direct Indirect

      

Copious Link Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands US$10 ordinary 
  shares

100% – Investment holding

Favor Grow Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$10 ordinary 
  shares

100% – Investment holding

HK6 Investment China (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100% – Investment holding

HK6 Investment Limited British Virgin Islands US$2,614 ordinary 
  shares

100% – Investment holding

China Communication Investment 
  (H.K.) Limited

Hong Kong HK$100 ordinary 
  shares

– 100% Investment holding

Global Luck Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share – 100% Investment holding

Grandsun International Creation 
  Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share – 100% Investment holding

hk6.com Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 ordinary 
  shares

– 100% Inactive

HK6 Media Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares – 100% Inactive

Hong Kong Financial Institute Limited Hong Kong HK$1,307 ordinary 
  shares

– 100% Inactive

Oriental Glory (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share – 100% Investment holding

Pro-Concept Development Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share – 100% Inactive

Sino Key International Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share – 100% Inactive

Success Advantage Investments 
  Limited

British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share – 100% Inactive

神州奧美網絡（國際 )有限公司 Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100% – Not yet commence 
  business



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 75

Name

Place of incorporation/ 
registration and 
operation

Issued and 
paid up capital/
registered 
capital

Percentage of ownership 
interest/ voting power/ 

profit sharing Principal activities
Direct Indirect

      

北京神通益家科技服務有限公司 (note) 
  (Beijing Shentong Yijia Technology 
  Services Company Limited*)

PRC RMB1,000,000 – 100% Provision of promotion 
  and management 
  services for an 
  electronic smart card 
  “Designated Shentong 
  Card” in the PRC

黑龍江神通文化俱樂部有限公司 (note) 
  (Heilongjiang Shentong Cultural 
  Club Company Limited*)

PRC RMB1,000,000 – 100% Provision of robot related 
  consultancy services, 
  organisation of robot 
  competition using 
  Shentong Card as main 
  payment medium, 
  conference services 
  and advertising services

Note:	Established in the PRC as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise.
*	 English name is for identification purpose only

The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the 
Group.

As at 31 March 2017, the bank and cash balances of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in Renminbi 
(“RMB”) amounted to approximately HK$88,789,000 (2016: HK$14,411,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies 
is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of 
Foreign Exchange Regulations.

21.	 INVENTORIES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Finished goods 54 –
   

20.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2017 are as follows: (Continued)
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22.	 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Amount due from a substantial shareholder (note a) 25,687 20,656
Amounts due from related companies (note b) 2,241 –
Other receivables 289 11
Prepayments and deposits 4,365 1,180
   

32,582 21,847
   

Note:	 (a)	 The amount due from CCC, a substantial shareholder of the Company is denominated in RMB, unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

	 (b)	 The amounts due from related companies are denominated in RMB, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.

23.	 BANK AND CASH BALANCES
As at 31 March 2017, the bank and cash balances of the Group denominated in RMB was amounted to approximately 
HK$88,789,000 (2016: HK$14,411,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign 
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

24.	 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Amount due to a substantial shareholder (note a) 200,100 –
Amount due to a related company (note b) 564 –
Accrued salaries 1,419 623
Accrued expenses 1,286 647
Security deposits (note c) 5,080 –
Other payables 1,141 733
   

209,590 2,003
   

Note:	 (a)	 The amount due to CCI, a substantial shareholder of the Company is denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest-free 
and repayable on 15 November 2017.

	 (b)	 The amount due to a related company is denominated in HK$, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

	 (c)	 The amount represented the security deposits paid by CCC for the Heilongjiang Shentong CRC Shentong Card 
Payment system.
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25.	 TRAINING COURSE OBLIGATION
Training course obligation represented the prepaid course fee received from training course participants.

26.	 PROMISSORY NOTE
As at 31 March 2017, the promissory note is held by CCI with principal amount of approximately HK$94,427,000 (2016: 
HK$94,427,000).

On 31 March 2015, the Group and CCI agreed to extend the maturity date from 30 June 2015 to 30 June 2016. On 30 
September 2015, the Group and CCI agreed to extend the maturity date from 30 June 2016 to 30 June 2017. On 31 May 
2017, the Group and CCI agreed to extend the maturity date from 30 June 2017 to 30 June 2018.

The principal amount of the promissory note is denominated in HK$. The promissory note is unsecured. As at 31 March 
2017, the coupon rate is 2% per annum (2016: 2% per annum) and the effective interest rate is 1.86% (2016: 1.86%).

27.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Intangible 
assets

Undistributed 
profits of 

subsidiaries Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 April 2015 541 – 541
Credit to the consolidated profit or loss for the year (note 11) (526) – (526)
Exchange differences (15) – (15)
    

At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 – – –
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 32) 97,629 2,133 99,762
Exchange differences (4,646) (102) (4,748)
    

At 31 March 2017 92,983 2,031 95,014
    

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately HK$19,566,000 (2016: 
HK$19,566,000) available for offset against future profits and may be carried forward indefinitely.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings 
of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is approximately HK$79,396,000 (2016: 
HK$22,946,000). No liability has been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a position to 
control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.
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28.	 SHARE CAPITAL

2017 2016
Number 

of shares Amount
Number 

of shares Amount
HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At the beginning and the end of the year 10,000,000,000 100,000 10,000,000,000 100,000
     

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At the beginning of the year 1,294,697,017 12,947 1,294,697,017 12,947
Shares issued upon subscription (note) 361,000,000 3,610 – –
     

At the end of the year 1,655,697,017 16,557 1,294,697,017 12,947
     

Note:	On 3 May 2016, the Company entered into CCI Subscription Agreement with CCI in respect of 100,000,000 new shares of 
the Company to be allotted and issued to CCI at HK$0.5 per new share. The CCI Subscription Agreement was completed 
on 16 May 2016. On 3 May 2016, the Company entered into Investor Subscription Agreements with 6 independent 
investors in respect of a total of 261,000,000 new shares of the Company to be allotted and issued to them at HK$0.5 per 
new share. The Investor Subscription Agreements were completed on 16 May 2016.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that 
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services 
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher 
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by 
a sound capital position, and makes judgements to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions. In 
order to adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 
adjusted capital. Total debt is defined as promissory note and all amounts due to related companies. Adjusted capital 
comprises all components of equity except for non-controlling interests, if any.
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28.	 SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
During the current reporting period, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from prior years, was to reduce the debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio to reasonable level in order to secure access to finance at a reasonable cost. The debt-to-adjusted 
capital ratios at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 were as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Total debt 304,507 101,949
Less: cash and cash equivalents (92,525) (17,961)
   

Net debt 211,982 83,988
   

Total equity 91,426 (75,832)
   

Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio 232% N/A
   

The increase of net debt is because of the Exclusive Rights related payable acquired by the Group during acquisition of 
Copious Link Group in the reporting period. The increase of total equity was caused by subscription of new shares of the 
Company during the reporting period. No debt-to-adjusted capital ratio as at 31 March 2016 was presented as the Group 
has negative equity.

The externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Company to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to 
have a public float of at least 25% of its issued shares throughout the year. The Company was not informed of any 
change in its shareholdings that would lead to its non-compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year.



SHENTONG ROBOT EDUCATION GROUP COMPANY LIMITED80

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

29.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(a)	 Statement of financial position of the Company

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 30,020 20
    

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries 64,823 19,751
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 213 119
Bank and cash balances 2,131 3,067
    

Total current assets 67,167 22,937
    

TOTAL ASSETS 97,187 22,957
    

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital 16,557 12,947
Reserves 29(b) 74,930 6,918
    

Total equity 91,487 19,865
    

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 740 527
Amount due to subsidiaries 4,960 2,565
    

Total current liabilities 5,700 3,092
    

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 97,187 22,957
    

Approved by the Board of Directors on 16 June 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

He Chenguang Bao Yueqing
Director Director
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29.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 
(CONTINUED)
(b)	 Reserve movement of the Company

Share 
premium

Share-based 
payment 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

At 1 April 2015 1,072,549 – (1,045,350) 27,199
Loss for the year – – (20,281) (20,281)
     

At 31 March 2016 1,072,549 – (1,065,631) 6,918
     

At 1 April 2016 1,072,549 – (1,065,631) 6,918
Loss for the year – – (112,144) (112,144)
Share issued upon subscription (note 28) 176,840 – – 176,840
Share-based payments (note 31) – 3,316 – 3,316
     

At 31 March 2017 1,249,389 3,316 (1,177,775) 74,930
     

30.	 RESERVES
(a)	 Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are presented in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b)	 Nature and purpose of reserves
(i)	 Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account of the Company 
are distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the date on which 
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall 
due in the ordinary course of business.

(ii)	 Merger reserve
The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares of the 
acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of 
the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares in 2002.

(iii)	 Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the 
accounting policies set out in note 4(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

(iv)	 Statutory reserve 
The statutory reserve, which is non-distributable, is appropriated from the profit after taxation of the Group’s 
PRC subsidiaries under the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC.

(v)	 Share-based payment reserve
The share-based payment reserve represents equity-settled share-based payments to certain eligible 
participants of the Group recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share-based 
payments in note 4(r) to the consolidated financial statements.
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31.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Equity-settled share option scheme
The purpose of the Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) is to provide incentives and rewards to eligible 
participants who may contribute to the growth and development of the Group. Eligible participants include the employees 
(including executive directors), non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors), any consultants, 
suppliers or customers, employees of any invested entity and any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board has 
contributed or may contribute to the Group eligible for share options under the Scheme.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 7 August 2013, the Company’s shareholders approved the 
adoption of the Scheme. The Scheme became effective on 7 August 2013 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, 
the Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares under the Scheme which may be allotted and issued upon the exercise of all options 
which initially shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the Scheme. 
Thereafter, if refreshed, the maximum number shall not exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval of 
the refreshed limit by the shareholders. The aggregate number of shares of the Company which may be issued upon 
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option 
schemes of the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time. No 
options shall be granted under any schemes of the Company or any of its subsidiaries if this will result in the 30% limit 
being exceeded.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted 
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company to each eligible participant in any 12-month 
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of grant.

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their 
respective associates, is required to be approved by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share 
options granted to a substantial shareholder or any independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their 
respective associates, such that within any 12-month period, in aggregate in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the 
Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the 
date of each offer) in excess of HK$5 million, are subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 30 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a 
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable 
by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later than ten years from 
the date of the offer of the share options.

The subscription price for a share of the Company in respect of any particular option granted under the Scheme (which 
shall be payable upon exercise of the option) shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, 
save that such price will not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business day (and for this purpose shall be 
taken to be the date of the Board meeting at which the Board proposes to grant the options); (b) the average of the 
closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days 
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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31.	 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
Details of the outstanding options granted to employees and directors under the Scheme as at the end of reporting 
periods are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period
Exercise 

price
Number of shares issuable 

under options granted
HK$ 2017 2016

’000 ’000
      

26 August 2016 Immediately 26 August 2016 to 
  25 August 2019 
  (both days inclusive)

0.53 18,000 –

      

Options not exercised were expired after the exercisable period.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

2017 2016

Number of 
share options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
Number of 

share options

Weighted 
average 

exercise price
’000 HK$ ’000 HK$

     

Outstanding at the beginning of the year – – – –
Granted during the year 18,000 0.53
     

Outstanding at the end of the year 18,000 0.53 – –
     

Exercisable at the end of the year 18,000 0.53 – –
     

No share option has been exercised during the year. The options outstanding at the end of the reporting period have a 
weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.4 years and the exercise price is HK$0.53. No share option was granted 
for the year ended 31 March 2016.

Options under the Scheme were granted on 26 August 2016. The estimated fair value of the options granted on that date 
is HK$3,316,000. The fair value was calculated using Binomial Option Pricing Model. The inputs into the model are as 
follows:

Grant date 26 August 2016
  

Share price of the Company on grant date HK$0.53
Exercise price HK$0.53
Expected volatility 53.8%
Contractual life 3 years
Risk-free rate 0.96%
Expected dividend yield 0%
  

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 3 
years.
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32.	 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
On 16 May 2016, the Group acquired 100% equity interest of Copious Link Group by cash consideration of 
HK$30,000,000. Copious Link Group is engaged in robotics education in Heilongjiang province of the PRC. The acquisition 
is for the purpose of diversifying the Group’s revenue base. The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of it as 
at the date of acquisition, is as follows:

HK$’000
  

Net assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment (note 17) 7,137
Intangible assets — Exclusive Rights (note 19) 390,514
Inventories 44
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables 26,566
Amount due from a substantial shareholder — CCC 43,696
Amounts due from related companies 6,422
Bank and cash balances 1,237
Receipt in advance (12)
Training course obligation (note 25) (19,032)
Accruals and other payables (11,035)
Amount due to a substantial shareholder — CCI (350,100)
Amount due to a related company (564)
Current tax liabilities (3,227)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 27) (99,762)
  

(8,116)
Goodwill on acquisition (note 18) 38,116
  

30,000
  

Satisfied by:

Cash 30,000
  	

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

Cash consideration paid (30,000)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 1,237
  

(28,763)
  

The fair value of other receivables, amount due from a substantial shareholder and amounts due from related companies 
are HK$2,643,000, HK$43,696,000 and HK$6,422,000 respectively. All of the contractual cash flows are expected to be 
collected in full.
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32.	 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Copious Link Group is attributable to the anticipated profitability of utilising of 
the Group’s experience in smart electronic card application to the new robotics education business and the anticipated 
future operating synergies from the combination.

Copious Link Group contributed approximately HK$60,050,000 and HK$28,598,000 to the Group’s revenue and profit for 
the year respectively between the date of acquisition and the end of the reporting period.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2016, the Group’s revenue for the year and profit for the year would have 
been approximately HK$100,490,000 and HK$6,538,000 respectively. The proforma information is for illustrative purposes 
only and is not necessarily an indication of the revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would have 
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2016, nor is intended to be a projection of future results.

33.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2017, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2016: Nil).

34.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Property, plant and equipment
  — Contracted but not provide for 3,990 4
   

35.	 LEASE COMMITMENTS
At 31 March 2017 the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as 
follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 4,501 2,348
In the second to fifth years inclusive 8,453 –
   

12,954 2,348
   

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for a number of properties held under operating leases. 
Leases are negotiated for a range from one to five years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do not include 
contingent rentals.
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36.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, 
the Group had the following material transactions with its related parties during the year:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Acquisition of subsidiaries from a related company (note 32) (30,000) –
Promotion and management service income from CCC 31,457 34,816
Service fee to CCC
  — Advertising expenses (5,610) (5,815)
  — Customer service hotline rental (3,675) (1,699)
  — Server hosting service (15,371) (8,172)
  — CRC Shentong Card payment system management (3,374) –
Interest on promissory note payable to CCI (1,894) (1,884)
Service fee to related companies
  — Advertising expenses (1,865) –
  — Rental of competition venue (150) –
  — Web maintenance fee (5,381) –
   

37.	 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
On 31 May 2017, the Group agreed with CCI to extend the maturity date of promissory note from 30 June 2017 to 30 
June 2018.


	Cover
	Characteristics of GEM
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Financial Highlights
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Environmental, Social and Governance Report
	Directors’ Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



